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B U S I N E S S  P R O F I L E
MEMC is a global leader in the manufacture and sale of wafers and related products to the semiconductor 
and solar industries. Wafers are literally the foundation upon which virtually all of the world’s semiconduc-
tors and solar cells are built. Those semiconductors and solar cells, in turn, are the building blocks for the 
$1 trillion electronics market (cell phones, computers, PDAs, CD/DVD players, satellite and automotive 
electronics, etc.) and the $20 billion solar cell/module market (rooftop, solar farms, consumer lighting, 
etc.). MEMC has been a pioneer in the design and development of wafer technologies since 1959, and 
operates facilities in the U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific. MEMC’s common stock is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “WFR” and is included in the S&P 500 Index. 

2 0 0 8  H I G H L I G H T S
  Crossed the $2 billion mark in total revenue for the first time, and achieved the $1 billion milestone  
in sales to the solar market;

 
50% and 42%, respectively; 

capital expenditures) of 32% and 17% of sales, respectively;

450,000 wafers per month; and
1 to over $1.4 billion, while repurchasing $321 million worth of shares 

under our stock repurchase program and maintaining virtually no debt.

F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 CAGR
Net Sales $2,004.5 $1,921.8 $1,540.6 $1,107.4 $1,028.0 $781.1 21%
Gross Margin 1,004.8 1,000.5 689.0 366.5 369.4 232.8 34%
Operating Income 853.2  849.9  558.3  257.0  260.5  142.6  43%
Net Income (GAAP)* 387.4  826.2  369.3  249.4  226.2  116.6  27%
Net Income (non-GAAP,  
    excluding warrants)* 743.7  753.9  456.6  214.8  165.5  130.8 42%
EPS (GAAP) 1.69  3.56  1.61  1.10  1.02  0.53  26%
EPS (non-GAAP, excluding warrants) 3.25  3.25  1.99  0.95  0.74  0.63  39%
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 640.5  917.2  527.8  321.0  258.0  98.7  45%

Free Cash Flow 2 337.3  640.8  379.4  158.3  112.2  31.3  61%
Net Cash Per Share 3 6.17  5.58  2.40  0.44  (0.30)  0.00 
Return on Assets 4 26%  32%  31%  20%  19%  20%

1. Cash and investments in this annual report refers to cash, cash equivalents and short- and long-term investments.
2. Cash flows from operating activities minus capital expenditures.
3. Cash, cash equivalents and investments minus debt, per share.
4. Non-GAAP net income divided by average of beginning and ending total assets, excluding warrant benefit/impact.
* Please see non-GAAP reconciliation table on page 56.
Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) calculated using 2003-2008 data shown.

On the cover: A semiconductor wafer with its distinctive notch is visible in this representation of MEMC’s  
long semiconductor wafer history and its entry into, and growth in, the burgeoning solar market.



Pasedena, Texas – MEMC’s Pasadena 
facility is the world’s only large-volume 
production site of granular polysilicon, the 
base material used for manufacturing 
silicon wafers. Granular polysilicon is 
considered to provide significant cost 
and productivity advantages over  
traditional “chunk” polysilicon.

St. Peters, Missouri: World Headquarters – The St. Peters campus 
was built in 1959 by MEMC (formerly Monsanto Electronic Materials 

Company). This facility housed the first merchant manufacturer of  
silicon wafers in the world, with the first wafers produced being  

approximately half an inch in diameter. Originally just a few acres  
in size, the facility now occupies 185 acres. This facility, located  
approximately 30 miles west of St. Louis, is MEMC’s corporate and  
R&D headquarters, and produces 100mm, 125mm, 150mm, 200mm  

and 300mm single-crystal CZ silicon and 100mm, 125mm,150mm,  
200mm polished and epitaxial CZ silicon wafers.

Utsunomiya, Japan – MEMC’s Utsunomiya plant, 
located approximately 100km north of Tokyo, 
manufactures state-of-the-art 300mm polished and 
epitaxial silicon wafers for many of the world’s top 
device manufacturers. The Utsunomiya plant was 
built in 1986 and in 1998 MEMC added a 300mm 
Center of Excellence.

Chonan, South Korea – Located approximately 
80km south of Seoul, MEMC’s joint venture with 
Samsung Electronics Company serves the important 
Korean semiconductor market. The JV is 80% owned 
by MEMC.

MEMC’s Merano, Italy 
facility is one of two facilities in MEMC’s 
factory network that produces polysilicon. 
Silicon research began at the plant in 1961, 
and a pilot line started in 1968. In 1976, 
industrial production began for polysilicon 
and crystal growth. In recent years, MEMC 
has been expanding polysilicon capacity at 
this site, and much of the company’s future 
polysilicon expansion is planned here.   

A  G L O B A L  L E A D E R  I N  S O L A R 
A N D  S E M I C O N D U C T O R  M A R K E T S

The patent for the first integrated circuit was applied for in 1959. That same year, MEMC was formed 
and has been a pioneer in the design and development of wafer technologies ever since. MEMC’s rich 
history includes many firsts, including being the first to develop Chemical-Mechanical Polishing, 
commercial epitaxial wafers, commercial 100mm and 200mm wafers, high-purity granular polysilicon, 
MDZ® thermal processing and PerfectSilicon™, to name a few. MEMC holds hundreds of worldwide 
patents on silicon products and processes and has hundreds more pending. 

In 2007, MEMC began shipping its first 156mm wafers to the solar industry. Today, MEMC is 
a global leader in the manufacture and sale of wafers and related intermediate products to both the 
semiconductor and solar industries, and continues to remain at the forefront of technology innovation 
with advanced manufacturing capabilities around the world. 

After more than 50 years, MEMC remains committed to delivering the highest-quality products 
to our customers worldwide.

Hsinchu, Taiwan – To better serve the growing 
Taiwanese semiconductor market, a joint venture 
in Taiwan was formed between MEMC, China 
Steel Corporation and others. Now owned by 
MEMC, this has been the site of MEMC’s most 
recent 300mm capacity expansion activities.

Sherman, Texas – Dedicated in 1997, 
this is the newest facility to be added 
by MEMC. This facility is primarily 
focused on crystal growth and 150mm 
and 200mm wafering.

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia – The manufacturing 
site in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia was MEMC’s 

first location in the Asian semiconductor market.

The Novara, Italy plant  
is the MEMC site for wafer production   

and epitaxial deposition in Europe.  
Wafering started at this plant in 1976.

Singapore – This site is the Asia-Pacific  
headquarters for MEMC.
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S T A R T  W I T H 
A T T R A C T I V E  M A R K E T S

Similar to semiconductor applications, silicon wafers are also the foundation for most solar 
cells. Th ese solar cells are grouped together to form solar modules. According to the National 
Renewable Energy Laboratory, the amount of solar energy hitting the earth in less than one day 
is greater than the energy represented by all of the crude oil remaining in the ground. Yet, less 
than 1% of the energy we use comes from this clean, renewable energy source because the cost 
is not always competitive with the cost of buying from the local power utility. Enter MEMC. 
Our cost-effi  cient, vertically integrated position enables us to off er customers pricing road 
maps that could allow them to achieve grid parity without government subsidies. In 2008, 
which was only our second year selling solar wafers, our sales of wafers and related products 
to this industry exceeded $1 billion.  

SOLAR 
•  ~$8B Wafer Market
•  Fast Growth
•  CAGR > 40% Since ’99

MEMC 2008 Annual Report 1

SEMICONDUCTOR 
•  ~$11B Wafer Market
•  Steady Long-Term Growth
•  CAGR > 10% Since ’77

Wafers are the foundation upon which semiconductors are built. Th ese semiconductors, in turn, 
power the $1 trillion electronics market. Because of the advancements in technology and the 
worldwide proliferation of electronic devices over the last 30 years, the semiconductor wafer 
industry has shipped, on average, approximately 10% more units every year, growing in tandem 
with semiconductor device shipments. Th ese wafers are adding increasing value to device makers 
and can help them reduce their costs while also allowing them to improve the devices they 
build by holding more memory, performing faster or having longer battery life. In order to 
enable these advancements, industry leaders need to have asset-efficient strategies to 
generate the cash to invest in next-generation technologies. On this score, in recent years, 
MEMC has been unmatched. Due to these industry dynamics, over the years, the number 
of suppliers in the industry has been reduced from dozens before 1990 to about six today.
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P O S I T I O N  T H E  C O M P A N Y 
T O  W I N

MEMC strives to deliver an industry-leading return on our assets and to maximize our 
return on each dollar spent. In 2008, MEMC was once again successful, posting a non-
GAAP return on assets of over 25%. Combined with strong working capital management, 
this yielded high operating cash fl ow, which is essential for a self-funding business model 
in an asset-intensive industry. MEMC’s asset effi  ciency has allowed us in recent years to 
invest an average of less than 15% of sales into capex, thereby yielding high levels of free 
cash fl ow. Th is cash fl ow generation, in turn, has allowed us to build a cash and invest-
ment balance of more than $1.4 billion, or the equivalent of more than $6 for each MEMC 
share. Th is ‘excess cash’ allows us to continue our practice of returning value to shareholders 
in the form of share repurchases, as well as positions us well to capitalize on strategic 
acquisitions or other opportunities in the future should they present themselves.  

S E L F - F U N D I N G
B U S I N E S S  M O D E L
 

B A R R I E R S  T O  E N T R Y
 

Th e wafer industry is very capital intensive, particularly with regard to semiconductor 
wafers. As wafers become more advanced in size and specifi cation, more customized for 
each customer and begin to utilize advanced materials, there are fewer competitors that 
are capable of competing in this asset-intensive and technologically advanced business. 
For each new diameter that is introduced, there is a signifi cant amount of capital invest-
ment required. For each new design node and for the development and manufacturing of 
new materials products, there is more investment required, and to be most effi  cient and 
be vertically integrated in making ultra-pure polysilicon, there is even more investment 
required. Th is environment favors MEMC, which has consistently generated cash fl ows 
and profi ts in spite of these required investments. It has been too much, however, for 
many competitors. As a result, the number of wafer suppliers in the industry has been 
reduced from dozens prior to 1990, to about ten entering this decade and to six today. 
We expect this trend to continue. 
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F O C U S  O N  G R O W T H

Th e self-funding business model discussed on the previous page allows MEMC to 

continue to invest and remain at the forefront of technology innovation with advanced 

manufacturing capabilities and a suite of process technologies including alternate mate-

rials. Th ese new materials solutions  –  like MEMC’s patented PerfectSilicon and Silicon 

on Insulator (SOI)  –  can enable products or devices that are capable of holding more 

memory, perform faster, generate less heat or have longer battery life.

E N A B L I N G 
T E C H N O L O G Y
 

B R O A D  P R O D U C T 
P O R T F O L I O

In addition to competing on the basis of product quality, consistency, price and customer 

service, MEMC also competes on the basis of technical innovation, product range and 

availability. MEMC’s product portfolio is currently the broadest in the company’s history. 

Today, we off er wafer solutions to the semiconductor industry in various diameters 

(ranging from 100mm to 300mm), types (polished, epitaxial, test-monitor), engineered 

for specifi c design nodes (as small as 32 nanometers and shrinking), crystal improvements 

(oxygen control, defect-free substrate, annealing, etc.), wafering improvements 

(nanotopography, 1mm-edge exclusion) and materials improvements (SOI, strained 

silicon, strained SOI). In 2007, MEMC broadened its product portfolio to include 

wafers for the solar industry. Th is diversifi cation has added growth and should further 

reduce volatility in our revenue and profi t base.



D E M O N S T R A T E  P E R F O R M A N C E
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1. Net cash is equal to cash, cash equivalents and investments minus debt.

CASH AND INVESTMENTS GREW TO OVER $1.4 BILLION
MEMC’s balance sheet is very strong, with cash and investments growing to over 
$1.4 billion and the company maintaining virtually no debt. Our cash and 
investments, net of debt, are equal to over $6 for every MEMC share. Our 
net cash1 position has continued to strengthen, despite the R&D and capital 
spending mentioned above, as well as an additional $400 million spent to return 
value to shareholders in the form of stock repurchases over the last two years.

REVENUE TOPS $2 BILLION
In 2008, MEMC continued to grow revenue despite a diffi  cult market 
environment with total revenue crossing the $2 billion mark for the fi rst 
time. Helping to fuel this growth were MEMC’s sales to the solar market, 
which crossed the $1 billion mark in 2008. Over the last six years, MEMC’s 
sales have grown at a compound growth rate of over 20% per year. 

($ in millions)

OPERATING PROFIT CONTINUES TO EXPAND
With revenue continuing to grow in 2008, and MEMC leveraging operating 
expenses, operating profi t continued to grow. Over the last six years, operating 
profi ts have grown at a compound growth rate of 43% per year, more than 
double the rate of revenue growth.

($ in millions)

FREE CASH FLOW REMAINS STRONG AT 17% OF SALES
Our ability to run a strongly profi table business and generate positive cash fl ow, 
even after adequately spending on the R&D and capital projects that will fuel 
our future growth, is a signifi cant advantage that diff erentiates MEMC from 
many of our competitors. In 2008, MEMC generated operating cash fl ow of 
over $640 million and free cash fl ow, which is operating cash fl ow minus capital 
expenditures, of over $335 million. Th at is equal to approximately 17% of sales.

($ in millions)
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L E T T E R  T O  S H A R E H O L D E R S

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of our Board of Directors and our 4,600 employees, 
thank you for your investment in MEMC.
 As many of you know, in addition to his duties as an MEMC 
Board member, three months ago Marshall Turner became a full-
time employee of MEMC, assuming the position of Interim CEO. 
As we look back over our respective careers, we have each been 
involved with many companies in many leadership and advisory 
capacities, and we can both say that we are truly proud to be 
associated with MEMC. As we navigate through this difficult 
global economic period, there are few companies, in our opinion, 
that are better positioned to weather the current environment, 
and potentially emerge a stronger company on the other side.
 Earlier in this report we noted a few of the highlights from 
2008, which included continued growth in revenue and profits, 
continued cash generation and a continued strengthening of our 
balance sheet. As we enter 2009, the overall economy continues 
to suffer, impacting all industries to differing degrees, and MEMC 
is not immune to this. We entered this downturn, however, as a well-
positioned company with a lean operation, a good cost structure, 
a self-funding business model, a strong technology base and a very 
strong balance sheet. Our top priority during Marshall’s short 
tenure has been to ensure the continued integrity and discipline 

It’s fundamental – MEMC has shown consistent growth through 
varying market conditions

Marshall Turner
Interim Chief Executive Officer

of this strong financial and market position, and to keep us moving 
swiftly in the right direction. MEMC’s business model, focused 
on the innovation and asset-efficient cost structure that are the 
key strengths of the company, is the right one for these times. 
MEMC has had a keen focus on efficiency maximization and on 
the return from each dollar spent on capital. This has produced the 
industry-leading profitability and cash flow generation that we 
have enjoyed over the last six years. Now, as we enter 2009, even 
in this uncertain environment, our teams are focused on continued 
cost, yield, and efficiency improvements. We will continue to increase 
spending in R&D, and our R&D and manufacturing teams will 
continue to work together to develop the next-generation products 
that will drive our future growth and focus on our own internal 
manufacturing processes that will drive further efficiencies.
 While it helps to be well positioned, to be truly successful 
and fully capitalize on that positioning requires strong leadership. 
In early 2009, MEMC’s Board of Directors appointed Ahmad 
Chatila to be MEMC’s new Chief Executive Officer. Ahmad is a  
highly regarded semiconductor industry veteran with the skills, 
knowledge and expertise to lead MEMC into its next era of growth. 
As fellow MEMC shareholders, we could not be more pleased 
with this selection.
 MEMC is a 50-year old technology company competing in 
a business that rewards technical excellence, close connection to 
customers and continual product cost reduction. While it is clear 
that we must contend with a difficult near-term business environ-
ment, we believe that MEMC has the right leadership, the right 
direction and the right strengths to meet the challenges and 
opportunities of 2009 and beyond.

Marshall Turner
Interim Chief Executive Officer

John Marren 
Chairman of the Board

John Marren
Chairman of the Board
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F U N D A M E N TA L  Q U E S T I O N S

Q & A  W I T H  S E N I O R  M A N A G E M E N T

Q. As the newly appointed CEO of MEMC, 

what are your initial thoughts regarding the 

company, its position in the marketplace and 

any changes you might expect to make?

A. MEMC is already a strong company with many world-class attributes, 

such as a tremendous R&D eff ort. One of my goals is to use my perspective – 

from 18 years of being an MEMC customer – to leverage these attributes 

and the company’s position in the industry to make MEMC even stronger, 

becoming the go-to supplier for wafer solutions – whether it be today’s 

leading-edge products or working together with our teams to develop 

customized solutions to advance our customer’s future technologies. If we 

leverage our market positioning and rich intellectual property portfolio to 

further strengthen our customer relationships in both semiconductor and 

solar, I believe we can achieve even greater things in the future. I want to 

ensure that we capitalize on MEMC’s tremendous strengths to bring even 

greater value to our customers and shareholders.

MEMC 2008 Annual Report 7

Q. MEMC currently has approximately 

$1.4 billion in cash and virtually no debt. 

What do you plan to do with all of that cash?

A. At MEMC we are proud of our business model and our cash generating 

abilities. While we are mindful of the current economic environment, we 

remain focused on fi nding ways to return value to shareholders. Since our 

share repurchase plan was implemented in mid 2007, we have repurchased 

over $430 million worth of shares, and in mid 2008 our Board of Directors 

authorized a doubling of the plan to $1 billion.

 Outside of the repurchase plan, as always, we remain positioned to take 

advantage of acquisition opportunities that may present themselves in this 

market, whether they take the form of assets, a factory or business line, or 

another company. Our cash position and self-funding business model give 

us great fl exibility.

Q. While MEMC is a wafer company, you 

have also sold some of your polysilicon 

raw material to the solar market on a “spot” 

basis. How are you viewing the spot 

market today?

A. We are not focused on selling polysilicon on the spot market. MEMC was 

the fi rst merchant manufacturer of wafers 50 years ago, and wafers are still 

our focus. As we are manufacturing wafers for use in semiconductor and 

solar applications, we may have more polysilicon raw material than we require. 

If we do, we can sell that poly opportunistically on the spot market. Our sales 

to this market have dropped over the past year, with spot sales dropping to 

10% of company sales by the fourth quarter of 2008. Although it is nice to 

have that fl exibility, we continue to deemphasize those sales.

KEN HANNAH
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer

JOHN KAUFFMANN
Senior Vice President, Sales & Marketing

AHMAD CHATILA
President and Chief Executive Offi cer
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F U N D A M E N TA L  Q U E S T I O N S

Q & A  W I T H  S E N I O R  M A N A G E M E N T

Q. What makes the solar market 

so attractive?

A. Th e solar market gives us another outlet for our products, and is really a 

signifi cant new growth engine for the company. MEMC had been making 

wafers for the semiconductor industry for nearly 50 years, so to extend into 

the adjacent market of solar wafers was a fairly easy transition, especially given 

that we are one of the few worldwide producers of the raw polysilicon. 

Having the ability to sell into the areas of strength is a great asset and has 

helped enable MEMC to perform much better fi nancially than our tradi-

tional semiconductor wafer competitors.

From a market perspective, solar still represents less than 1% of the world’s 

energy supply, so the market opportunity going forward remains signifi cant. 

After all, energy from the sun is free as long as you can harness it eff ectively. 

As we continue to enable our partners to off er increasingly competitive 

and effi  cient products, it should enable us to build even stronger customer 

relationships and garner a larger portion of this new and growing market.

Q. What are you doing to maintain your 

competitive edge?

A. From its earliest days, MEMC has maintained an R&D-centric 

philosophy and a culture of innovation. Having 50 years of science and 

technology behind you is a signifi cant benefi t. We use our R&D to develop 

next-generation products that will drive our future growth, including products 

like Silicon on Insulator. We are also developing further improvements to 

today’s products that allow our customers to achieve greater effi  ciencies and 

performance in a time where that is critical. Our enhanced wafer products 

such as our patented MDZ and defect-free Perfect Silicon wafers are 

designed to improve customer yields and save the customer money, some-

thing that is certainly top-of-mind in this environment. MEMC also utilizes 

R&D to develop improvements to our own internal manufacturing process 

that will drive further effi  ciencies in our own factories. Th ese optimizing 

strategies are not only honing our semiconductor operations, but they are 

also being extended into solar where we have already achieved signifi cant 

technical advancements as we drive for the long-term effi  ciencies in solar 

silicon that customers have come to expect from MEMC. 

SHAKER SADASIVAM
Senior Vice President, Research & Development

JOHN KAUFFMANN
Senior Vice President, Sales & Marketing
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Th e following data has been derived from our annual consolidated fi nancial statements, including the consolidated balance sheets 
and the related consolidated statements of income, cash fl ows, and stockholders’ equity and the notes thereto. Th e information below 
should be read in conjunction with our consolidated fi nancial statements and notes thereto including Note 2 related to signifi cant 
accounting policies.

(in millions, except per share and employment data) 20081 2007 2006 2005 2004
Statement of Income Data:
Net sales  $2,004.5 $1,921.8 $1,540.6 $1,107.4 $1,028.0
Gross profi t 1,004.8 1,000.5 689.0 366.5 369.4
Marketing and administration 2 110.8 111.3 94.9 76.3 71.9
Research and development 40.8 39.3 35.8 33.2 38.0
Operating income 853.2 849.9 558.3 257.0 260.5
Non-operating (income) expense 3 268.2 (261.9) (32.2) 4.6 62.0
Net income 4 387.4 826.2 369.3 249.4 226.2
Basic income per share 1.71 3.66 1.66 1.17 1.09
Diluted income per share 1.69 3.56 1.61 1.10 1.02

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and investments5 1,421.4 1,329.1 588.2 153.9 92.6
Working capital 981.6 1,145.3 641.7 211.4 155.0
Total assets 2,936.7 2,887.2 1,765.5 1,148.1 1,028.2
Long-term debt 
 (including current portion of long-term debt) 32.2 30.9 34.4 39.9 138.7
Stockholders’ equity 2,082.0 2,035.0 1,166.9 711.3 442.9

Other Data:
Capital expenditures 303.2 276.4 148.4 162.7 145.8
Employees 4,900 5,400 5,500 5,400 5,500

1  Includes additional bad debt expense of $4.5 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008. See Note 16 to the fi nancial statements.
2  Eff ective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based 

Payment.” Stock-based compensation expense recorded to marketing and administration expense was $19.4 million, $25.1 million and $13.1 million in 2008, 2007 
and 2006, respectively. Amounts recorded to marketing and administration expense during 2005 and prior years were less than $4 million per year.

3  A loss of $292.5 million and gains of $220.8 million and $18.9 million were recorded to non-operating income in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, due to the 
mark to market adjustment related to a warrant received from a customer.

4  During 2005, we reversed $67.1 million of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets. Th is represented the reversal of all remaining valuation allowances 
on deferred tax assets. During 2004, we reversed $137.4 million of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets.

5  Includes $284.7 million and $12.7 million of long-term investments as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F 

F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

OV ERV IEW

We are a vertically integrated, global leader in the manufacture 

and sale of wafers. Our customers include semiconductor device 

and solar cell manufacturers. We provide wafers in sizes ranging 

from 100 millimeters (4 inch) to 300 millimeters (12 inch) for 

semiconductor applications and 156 millimeter wafers for solar 

applications. Depending on market conditions, we also sell inter-

mediate products such as polysilicon, silane gas, ingots and scrap 

wafers to semiconductor device and equipment makers, solar 

cell and module manufacturers, fl at panel and other industries.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2008 and accelerating in the 

2008 fourth quarter, the uncertainty in macroeconomic condi-

tions weakened demand for electronics and subsequently wafers 

for semiconductor applications. Th is was exacerbated by our cus-

tomers’ inventory reduction eff orts. Th is resulted in reductions 

in our volumes and pricing pressure on nearly all semiconductor 

application wafer diameters. Th e reduction in semiconductor 

demand led to additional polysilicon and ingots making their way 

to the solar industry, resulting in downward pricing pressure for 

solar applications. Overall, we saw a decline in polysilicon revenues 

as a percent of total revenue in 2008 due to lower volumes as well 

as a sequential decline in pricing in the fourth quarter of 2008 

versus the third quarter of 2008.

Overall, our 2008 sales increased 4% compared to 2007. Gross 

margins and operating margins remained healthy in 2008 at 50% 

and 43%, respectively. We continued to generate solid levels of cash 

from operations and free cash (operating cash less capital expendi-

tures) with minimal debt. As of December 31, 2008, we held over 

$1.4 billion of cash, cash equivalents and investments. While we 

believe this positive cash performance positions us well in light of 

the current illiquidity in the fi nancial markets, the current credit 

markets has also resulted in some of our investments experiencing 

other than temporary deteriorations in value.

End market weakness and low order visibility across both semi-

conductor and solar applications has continued into the 2009 fi rst 

quarter. Reduced consumer spending, limited access to credit and 

other eff ects of the macroeconomic environment weigh on both 

semiconductor and solar markets. All of this, combined with above-

normal inventory levels at semiconductor customers, is resulting 

in yet another signifi cant sequential reduction in semiconductor 

wafer demand in the fi rst quarter of 2009. Short term oversupply 

of polysilicon continues to contribute to pricing pressure on solar 

products. During February 2009, we amended two of our long-term 

solar wafer agreements. Th e aggregate revenues under the agreements 

for sales in 2009 and aggregate revenues for sales over the remaining 

term of the contracts remain unchanged, but volume increases and 

price reductions for 2009 have been eff ectuated. Th ere were no 

changes to the requirements for security deposits or letters of 

credit other than to extend the time to comply fully with the 

2009 letter of credit requirement for one of the agreements.

We expect some underutilization of our semiconductor-related 

property, plant and equipment will continue at least through the 

fi rst quarter and perhaps longer in 2009. Th e lower than normal 

capacity utilization levels will negatively impact our gross margin 

percentage because of the need to period expense a portion of our 

fi xed costs at these levels. We anticipate our polysilicon facilities 

will continue to operate within a normal range of production capacity 

in the near term. During this economic downturn, we continue to 

evaluate our manufacturing capabilities to identify opportunities 

that could allow us to reduce our overall manufacturing costs, 

which could entail reductions or shifting of our plant capacity and 

reductions in our workforce as considered necessary in the future.

R ESU LTS OF OPER AT IONS

Net Sales
Dollars in millons 2008 2007 2006

Net sales $2,004.5 $1,921.8 $1,540.6

Percentage change 4% 25% 39%

Our net sales increased by 4% to $2,004.5 million in 2008 from 

$1,921.8 million in 2007. Th is increase was driven by increases 

in product volumes totaling $108.7 million. Volumes for both 

156 millimeter and 300 millimeter wafer shipments were up but 

were off set by decreases in volumes of all other products, includ-

ing polysilicon. During 2008, sales for solar applications reached 

$1 billion. Th e overall increase in net sales was negatively impacted 

by pricing decreases of $49.5 million, driven by price decreases 

for semiconductor wafers, which were only partially off set by 

price increases for 156 millimeter wafers and intermediate prod-

ucts such as polysilicon, silane gas, ingots and scrap wafers. Our 

2008 overall wafer average selling prices were approximately 

43% lower than the average selling prices for 2007. Th is was due 

to a change in product mix, primarily attributable to the increase 

in 156 millimeter wafer shipments in 2008, which have a lower 

average selling price per wafer, as well as price decreases for nearly 

all diameters of semiconductor wafers. Sales of our excess poly-

silicon raw material amounted to approximately 19% and 22% 

of total sales in 2008 and 2007, respectively. Th is percentage 
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is anticipated to continue to decline over time as our wafer sales 

grow at a faster rate. Polysilicon selling prices for the year were 

still approximately 15% higher than the average polysilicon sell-

ing prices for 2007. We expect short term semiconductor demand 

to be relatively soft and short-term pricing for solar applications, 

including intermediate products, to decline.

Our net sales increased by 25% to $1,921.8 million in 2007 

from $1,540.6 million in 2006. Increases in volume generated 

an increase in sales, which was primarily attributable to the 

introduction of 156 millimeter wafers in 2007 and increases 

in 300 millimeter wafer shipments. Th e remaining increase in 

our sales was due to increases in prices, which were primarily 

attributable to then existing wafer products and intermediate 

products. Sales of our excess polysilicon raw material amounted 

to approximately 22% and slightly less than 19% of total sales 

in 2007 and 2006, respectively. With the inclusion of prices for 

156 millimeter wafers in the calculation of 2007 average selling 

prices, wafer average selling prices declined approximately 41% 

in 2007 compared to 2006.

We operate in all the major semiconductor and solar-producing 

regions of the world, with approximately 76% of our 2008 net sales 

to customers located outside the United States. Net sales by geo-

graphic region for each of the last three years were as follows:

Gross Profi t
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Cost of goods sold $  999.7 $  921.3 $  851.6

Gross profi t 1,004.8 1,000.5 689.0

Gross margin percentage 50% 52% 45%

Th e improvement in gross profi t dollars for 2008 of $4.3 million 

to $1,004.8 million was primarily due to improved volume and mix 

of 156 millimeter wafers and 300 millimeter wafers, partially off -

set by pricing declines as described above. Th e decrease in gross 

margin percentage is primarily the result of overall price declines 

across most diameters and decreases in polysilicon and intermedi-

ate product volumes, as well as the impact of abnormal costs of 

approximately $16 million in 2008 due to an adverse annual long-

term purchase obligation and unallocated fi xed overhead costs. 

We expect short-term pricing in solar applications including 

intermediate products to decline.

Our gross profi t was $1,000.5 million in 2007 compared to $689.0 

million in 2006 and increased as a percentage of sales to 52% from 

45%. Th e increase in gross margin percentage was primarily the 

result of an improved mix of 156 millimeter wafers, 300 millimeter 

wafers and polysilicon sales, as well as higher average prices on then 

existing wafer products and polysilicon sales throughout the year.

2008

Percent of Change:

U.S. 6%

Europe (28)%

Asia Pacific 12%

Total 4%

Percent of Change:

U.S. (11)%

Europe 28%

Asia Pacific 47%

Total 25%

Percent of Change:

U.S. 52%

Europe 18%

Asia Pacific 39%

Total 39%

2007 2006

U.S.
$489

Europe
$206Asia Pacific

$1,310

U.S.
$462

Europe
$285

Asia Pacific
$1,175

U.S.
$521

Europe
$222

Asia Pacific
$798

Net Sales by Geographic Area
Dollars in millions
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Marketing and Administration
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Marketing and administration $110.8 $111.3 $94.9

As a percentage of net sales 6% 6% 6%

The decrease in marketing and administration expenses in 2008 

versus the prior year was primarily due to a decrease in stock com-

pensation expense of $5.7 million driven by the forfeiture of stock 

options related to the resignation of our former Chief Executive 

Officer of $15.5 million, slightly offset by the adjustment of esti-

mated forfeiture rates and new award grants. The change was also  

due to an additional $5.7 million recorded to our allowance for 

doubtful accounts compared to the prior year and net favorable 

legal settlements of $4.3 million, offset by one-time severance 

expense of $3.2 million.

Marketing and administration expenses were $111.3 million  

in 2007 compared to $94.9 million in 2006. As a percentage  

of net sales, marketing and administration expenses remained 

consistent with 2006, at 6%. In aggregate dollar amounts, mar-

keting and administration fees increased due to increased stock 

compensation expense of $12.0 million related to new option 

grants, as well as higher professional fees and increased freight  

on customer shipments.

Research and Development
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Research and development $40.8 $39.3 $35.8

As a percentage of net sales 2% 2% 2%

R&D expenses consisted mainly of product and process devel-

opment efforts to increase our capability in the areas of flatness, 

particles and crystal defectivity. R&D expenditures in 2008 

were consistent with the prior year. Our research and develop-

ment expenses increased to $39.3 million in 2007 compared to 

$35.8 million in 2006 mainly due to increased raw material and 

labor costs on next generation products and higher patent-related 

professional fees.

Non-Operating (Income) Expense
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Interest expense $  1.8 $   1.4 $  2.4

Interest income (46.4) (45.0) (14.6)

Decline (increase) in  

 fair value of warrant $292.5 (220.8) (18.9)

Other, net 20.3 2.5 (1.1)

Interest income mainly relates to returns on cash, cash  

equivalents and investments. Interest income was higher in 

2008 compared to 2007 due to higher average cash, cash equiva-

lent and investment balances throughout the year partially offset 

by a decline in interest rates. Our interest income of $45.0 mil-

lion in 2007 was higher compared to $14.6 million in 2006 due 

to increased returns on higher cash and investment balances.

Decline (increase) in fair value of warrant represents the  

mark-to-market adjustment for a warrant received from Suntech 

Power Holdings (Suntech). We recorded a decline in the estimated 

fair value of the warrant of $292.5 million in 2008 compared to 

increases of $220.8 million in 2007 and $18.9 million in 2006. 

The change in the estimated fair value of the warrant is mainly 

driven by the change in the price of Suntech’s ordinary shares, 

which had a price per share of $11.70, $82.32 and $34.01 at 

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Other, net expense in 2008 included $14.5 million of other 

than temporary impairments on our investments.

Income Taxes
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Income tax expense $195.4 $282.2 $214.8

Income tax rate as a % of  

 income before income taxes 33% 25% 36%
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In 2008, we recorded income tax expense of $195.4 million 

representing 33% of income before income taxes and minority 

interests. Th e eff ective rate was 8.0 percentage points higher in 

2008 compared to 2007 as a result of the non-taxable loss and 

income for the mark-to-market adjustment associated with the 

Suntech warrant for 2008 and 2007, respectively. Th is increase 

in the eff ective rate was partially off set by the decrease to the 

reserve for uncertain tax positions of $44.0 million, including 

related interest, reducing income tax expense by $29.5 million 

and increasing income taxes payable by $14.5 million, due to 

the closure of the Internal Revenue Service examination in the 

United States of the 2004 and 2005 audit years, as well as earn-

ings generated by foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are being 

permanently reinvested abroad and taxed at lower rates. Certain 

of our Asian subsidiaries have been granted a concessionary 

tax rate of between 0% and 10% on all qualifying income for 

a fi ve year period based on investments in certain machinery 

and equipment and other development and expansion activities, 

resulting in a tax benefi t for 2008 of approximately $37.0 million. 

Under the awards, the income tax rate for qualifying income 

will be taxed at an incentive tax rate lower than the corporate tax 

rate. Th e last of these incentives are scheduled to expire in 2012.

In 2007, we recorded income tax expense of $282.2 million 

representing 25% of income before income taxes and minority 

interests. Th e decrease in the overall tax rate in 2007 from 2006 

was related primarily to the non-taxable gain on the fair value 

of the Suntech warrant as well as a reduction in the eff ective tax 

rate as a result of an increase in earnings generated by foreign 

subsidiaries whose earnings are being permanently reinvested 

and taxed at lower rates.

F INA NCI A L CONDIT ION

Cash and cash equivalents increased $129.0 million from 

$859.3 million at December 31, 2007 to $988.3 million at 

December 31, 2008. See additional discussion in “Liquidity 

and Capital Resources” below.

Short-term and long-term investments of $433.1 million at 

December 31, 2008 decreased $36.7 million from $469.8 million 

at December 31, 2007. Th is decrease was primarily due to an 

increase in net unrealized temporary losses recorded to other com-

prehensive income of $38.9 million and other than temporary 

impairments of $14.5 million as well as currency adjustments. 

Th e decrease was slightly off set by net purchases of investments 

of $31.8 million during the period associated with the purchase 

of available for sale investments. As of December 31, 2008, we 

classifi ed $44.1 million of auction rate securities and an additional 

$55.0 million of corporate bonds, asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities as non-current assets due to the current conditions 

in the general debt markets as further discussed in “Liquidity and 

Capital Resources” below. In addition, at December 31, 2008 we 

held $168.8 million in fi xed income funds with the intent of 

holding them for a period exceeding 12 months.

Our accounts receivable decreased $0.6 million to $197.3 million 

at December 31, 2008, compared to $197.9 million at the end of 

2007. Our overall days sales outstanding was 42 days at Decem-

ber 31, 2008 compared to 34 days at the end of 2007, based on 

annualized fourth quarter sales for the respective years. Th e 

change in the accounts receivables balance was mainly due to a 

decrease in sales in the fourth quarter of 2008 versus 2007, higher 

prepayments for spot polysilicon sales at the end of 2007 com-

pared to 2008, and an increase in our allowance for bad debts of 

$5.7 million, off set by a slight extension of payment terms. Some 

of our customers have been impacted by the current global mac-

roeconomic downturn which may directly or indirectly infl uence 

their current liquidity.

Our inventories increased $44.9 million or 123% to $81.3 mil-

lion from the prior year. Inventories primarily increased as a result 

of the higher fi nished goods inventory due to a sharp decrease in 

demand in the 2008 fourth quarter and an increase in per unit 

costs related to lower production volumes. Our annualized inven-

tory turns, calculated as the ratio of annualized fourth quarter cost 

of goods sold divided by the year-end inventory balance, were 

approximately 11 times at December 31, 2008 versus approxi-

mately 27 times at December 31, 2007. We sell our products to 

certain customers under consignment arrangements. Generally, 

these consignment arrangements require us to maintain a certain 

quantity of product in inventory at the customer’s facility or at a 

storage facility designated by the customer. At December 31, 

2008, we had $15.1 million of inventory held on consignment, 

compared to $8.4 million at December 31, 2007.

Our net property, plant and equipment increased $207.2 mil-

lion to $1,041.2 million over the prior year. Th e increase was 

primarily due to capital expenditures related to expansions at our 

plants in Pasadena, Texas, Hsinchu, Taiwan and Merano, Italy 

and foreign currency changes, off set by depreciation expense.

Our net deferred tax assets totaled $70.7 million at December 31, 

2008 (of which $1.0 million of current deferred tax assets was 

included in prepaid and other assets) compared to $101.3 million 
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at December 31, 2007 (of which $12.0 million was included in 
prepaid and other assets). In 2008, the decrease of $30.6 million 
in net deferred tax assets is primarily attributed to the reversal of 
timing diff erences for 2008, which included pension and other 
post-retirement reserve items related to contributions made in 
the current year, fi xed asset additions for items placed into service 
and tax method changes related to fi xed assets. We believe that 
it is more likely than not, with our projections of future taxable 
income, that we will generate suffi  cient taxable income to realize 
the benefi ts of the net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2008.

Customer warrant decreased from $306.3 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2007 to $13.8 million at December 31, 2008. Th e current 
year decrease represents the change in the estimated fair value of 
the warrant and is mainly due to the signifi cant decrease in the 
price of Suntech’s ordinary shares.

Other assets increased $17.7 million to $73.1 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2008 from $55.4 million at December 31, 2007. Th is 
increase is mainly due to an increase in spares, the receipt of a right 
to sell our auction rate securities at par and additional contributions 
to our U.S. pension plan that eliminated the unfunded status of 
the plan.

Accrued liabilities increased $26.7 million to $67.5 million at 
December 31, 2008 from $40.8 million at December 31, 2007. 
Th is increase was due to a $13.7 million accrual for an adverse 
annual long-term purchase obligation and a $12.8 million increase 
in accrued withholding taxes.

Short-term customer deposits increased $65.0 million to 
$187.0 million at December 31, 2008, primarily due to additional 
deposits received for two new long-term supply agreements and 
additional contractually required deposits for existing long-term 
supply agreements. Th ese customer deposits are the portion of 
deposits received that are refundable to the customer within the 
next twelve months.

Income taxes payable decreased $58.0 million to $17.9 million 
at December 31, 2008, compared to $75.9 million at December 31, 
2007. Th is decrease is primarily related to the timing of estimated 
tax payments of $28.6 million related to 2007 that were remitted 
in 2008. Th e remaining change was due to a decrease in US and 
foreign tax liabilities due to lower taxable income in the fourth 
quarter of 2008.

Pension and post-employment liabilities decreased $15.1 million 
to $49.3 million at December 31, 2008, compared to $64.4 mil-
lion at the end of 2007 (of which $3.0 million and $3.8 million 

were included in accrued liabilities at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively). Th is decrease was due to discretionary contributions 
of $63.5 million to the U.S. pension plan above the minimum 
funding requirements that eliminated the unfunded status of 
the plan, off set by negative investment returns on the portfolio 
of $31.2 million. As noted above, the U.S. pension plan is over-
funded as of December 31, 2008 and the net asset is recorded 
in other long-term assets.

Long-term deferred revenue relates to customer supply agree-
ments and the original estimated fair value of the warrant described 
above. We will recognize the deferred revenue on a pro-rata basis 
as product is shipped over the life of the contracts. Th e increase 
in deferred revenue from $81.4 million at December 31, 2007 
to $88.8 million at December 31, 2008 is primarily the result 
of increased non-refundable deposits of $10.3 million received 
in connection with our supply agreements, off set by deferred 
revenue recognized in 2008 of $2.9 million.

Other non-current liabilities decreased $18.5 million to 
$186.1 million at December 31, 2008, compared to $204.6 million 
at December 31, 2007. Th is decrease is mainly due to a decrease 
in the reserve for uncertain tax positions of $44.0 million, includ-
ing related interest, due to the closure of the Internal Revenue Ser-
vice examination in the United States of the 2004 and 2005 audit 
years. Th is decrease was partially off set by the receipt of refundable 
customer deposits that are to be refunded beyond the next twelve 
months and are related to long-term supply agreements.

LIQU IDIT Y A ND CA PITA L R ESOURCES
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006
Net cash provided by (used in):
 Operating activities $ 640.5 $ 917.2 $ 527.8
 Investing activities (335.0) (688.9) (174.2)
 Financing activities (153.3) 76.9 40.8

In 2008, we generated $640.5 million of cash from operating 
activities, compared to $917.2 million in 2007 and $527.8 million 
in 2006. Th e year over year decrease of $276.7 million to $640.5 
million in 2008 was due to contributions of $76.3 million to our 
pension and post-employment plans, changes in working capital, 
including changes in income taxes payable and inventories, as 
well as non-current assets and liabilities and deferred revenue. 
Th e increase in cash from operating activities in 2007 from 
$527.8 million in 2006 was due to improved operating results.
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Our principal sources and uses of cash during 2008 were 

as follows:

Sources:

 • Generated $640.5 million from operations;

 •  Received $229.7 million in customer deposits related to 

long-term supply agreements; and

 •  Received $19.9 million from the exercise of stock options.

Uses:

 •  Purchased $31.8 million of investments, net;

 • Invested $303.2 million in capital expenditures;

 •  Paid $321.0 million to repurchase common stock;

 •  Refunded $81.6 million in customer deposits related to 

long-term supply agreements; and

 •  Contributed $76.3 million to our pension and post-

employment plans.

At December 31, 2008, we had approximately $97.6 million 

of committed capital expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2008 

and committed capital expenditures for 2009 primarily relate to 

increasing our capacity and expanding capability for our next 

generation products and polysilicon. We are currently evaluating 

our 2009 capital expenditures in light of current macroeconomic 

events and expect that capital expenditures will be lower in dollar 

terms than the amount expended in 2008.

In 2008, cash from fi nancing activities used $153.3 million, 

compared to $76.9 million provided in 2007. Th e decrease was 

mainly due to repurchases of our common stock of $321.0 million 

in 2008 compared to $111.2 million in 2007. Th is was slightly 

off set by approximately $138.0 million, net received in connec-

tion with customer deposits related to supply agreements in 2008 

compared to $115.3 million in 2007. Th ese deposits are refundable 

to the customer over two years, although such deposits are scheduled 

to be replaced each year with new deposits based on volume commit-

ments stated in the contract to reduce our risks associated with 

nonfulfi llment of the contract by the customers. One customer 

with which we maintain a long-term solar supply agreement did 

not make the fi nal capacity reservation refundable deposit due on 

January 2, 2009. We continue to have discussions with this customer 

regarding 2009 purchases and their ability to pay the deposit. Pre-

vious deposits held by us and a committed letter of credit exceed the 

accounts receivable balance for such customer as of December 31, 

2008. Also contributing to the decrease in cash from fi nancing 

activities was the excess tax benefi ts from share-based payment 

arrangements decrease to $19.0 million in 2008, compared to 

$40.0 million in 2007, and decrease to $19.9 million received in 

connection with stock option exercises, compared to $44.2 million 

in 2007.

On July 21, 2005, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement 

with National City Bank of the Midwest (“National City Bank”), 

US Bank National Association, and such other lending institu-

tions as may from time to time become lenders (the “National City 

Agreement”). Th e National City Agreement was amended on 

December 20, 2006 to reduce the commitment fee and the 

interest spread on loans bearing interest at a rate determined by 

reference to the LIBOR rate. Additionally, our obligations and 

the guaranty obligations of our subsidiaries are no longer secured 

by a pledge of the capital stock of certain of our domestic and 

foreign subsidiaries. Th e National City Agreement provides for 

a $200.0 million revolving credit facility and has a term of fi ve 

years. Interest on borrowings under the National City Agreement 

would be payable based on our election at LIBOR plus an appli-

cable margin (currently 0.34%) or at a defi ned prime rate plus an 

applicable margin (currently 0.0%). Th e National City Agreement 

also provides for us to pay various fees, including a commitment 

fee (currently 0.08%) on the lenders’ commitments. Th e National 

City Agreement contains covenants typical for credit arrangements 

of comparable size, such as minimum earnings before interest, 

taxes, depreciation and amortization and an interest coverage ratio. 

Our obligations under the National City Agreement are guaran-

teed by certain of our subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008, there 

were no borrowings under this credit facility, however, credit 

available under the facility has been reduced by $114.2 million 

related to the issuance of third party letters of credit. We are 

currently in compliance with all debt covenants.

Credit facilities and related borrowings outstanding at Decem-

ber 31, 2008 were as follows:

Dollars in millions  Committed Outstanding

Long-term debt  $270.4 $32.2

Short-term borrowings  33.2 —

Total   $303.6 $32.2

Of the $270.4 million in committed long-term credit facilities, 

$114.9 million is unavailable because it relates to the issuance of 

third party letters of credit. Our weighted-average cost of borrow-

ing was 2.2% at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Our 

short-term borrowings are subject to renewal annually with each 

fi nancial institution through the course of the year.
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We have agreed to indemnify some of our customers against 

claims of infringement of the intellectual property rights of others 

in our sales contracts with these customers. Th e terms of most 

of these indemnifi cation obligations generally do not provide for 

a limitation of our liability. We have not had any claims related 

to these indemnifi cation obligations as of December 31, 2008.

Our pension expense and pension liability are actuarially 

determined. See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.” 

Our total net unfunded pension liability related to our various 

defi ned benefi t pension plans at December 31, 2008 totaled $17.3 

million. Our pension obligations are funded in accordance with 

provisions of federal law. Contributions to our pension plans in 

2008 totaled approximately $73.9 million, of which $63.5 million 

represented a discretionary contribution. We expect contributions 

to our pension plans in 2009 to be approximately $1.1 million.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $159.5 million in a portfolio 

comprised of corporate bonds and asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities, net of temporary impairments of $14.5 million 

and other than temporary impairments of $14.5 million. As of 

December 31, 2007, this portfolio had $299.5 million of invest-

ments, net of temporary impairments of $4.3 million. A majority 

of these investments maintain a fl oating interest rate based on 

a range of spreads to the one and three month LIBOR rate. 

While we believe the decline in fair value related to the tempo-

rary impairments to be directly attributable to the current global 

credit conditions, we believe the time to reach the original carry-

ing value to be greater than 12 months. Accordingly, we have 

classifi ed $55.0 million of those investments as non-current assets. 

We do not anticipate having to sell these securities below our 

cost in order to operate our business. Th e asset backed securities 

Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008 were as follows:

       Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations   Less than 1 1–3 4–5 After 5

Dollars in millions  Total Year  Years  Years Years

Long-term debt 1  $   32.2 $  6.1 $  7.5 $  6.4 $ 12.2

Operating leases  13.4 3.6 4.5 3.2 2.1

Purchase obligations 2  826.3 126.0 162.0 176.9 361.4

Committed capital expenditures 3  97.6 97.6 — — —

Employee related liabilities 4  78.1 0.4 — — —

Other long-term liabilities — uncertain tax positions 5  55.9 — — — —

Customer deposits 6  290.3 186.0 104.3 — —

Total contractual obligations  $1,393.8 $419.7 $278.3 $186.5 $375.7

Th e contractual commitments shown above, except for our debt obligations, employee related liabilities, uncertain tax positions and customer deposits, are not recorded 

on our consolidated balance sheet.

1  Our long-term debt consists of Japanese Yen denominated plant expansion borrowings that have notes maturing over the next nine years.

2  Represents obligations for agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company, including minimum quantities to 

be purchased, and outstanding purchases for goods or services as of December 31, 2008.

3  Committed capital expenditures represent commitments for construction or purchase of property, plant and equipment. Th ey are not recorded as liabilities on our 

consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008 because we have not yet received the related goods or services or taken title to the property.

4  Employee related liabilities include pension, health and welfare benefi ts and other post-employment benefi ts. Other than pensions, the employee related liabilities 

are paid as incurred and accordingly, specifi c future years’ payments are not reasonably estimable. Amounts in the table due in less than one year relate to 

required pension funding obligations which represent the estimated contribution planned during 2009. Funding projections beyond the next twelve months are 

not practical to estimate due to the rules aff ecting tax-deductible contributions and the impact from the plan asset performance, interest rates and potential 

U.S. and international legislation.

5  As of December 31, 2008, $55.9 million of unrecognized tax benefi ts were included as a component of other long-term liabilities. Due to the inherent uncertainty 

of the underlying tax positions, we are unable to reasonably estimate in which future periods these unrecognized tax benefi ts will be settled.

6  Customer deposits consist of amounts provided in connection with long-term supply agreements which must be refunded to the customers according to the terms 

of the agreements.
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are collateralized by various types of assets including auto, 

consumer, home equity, student loan and credit card loans. Th e 

collateralized mortgage obligations are collateralized primarily 

by residential mortgages. Many of these issuances have varying 

tranches and subordinations and our investments are typically in 

investment grade and more senior, higher priority tranches.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $168.8 million in fi xed 

income funds, net of temporary impairments of $33.2 million, 

with the intent of holding them for a period exceeding 12 months. 

See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” related to our 

process of evaluating investments for impairment.

Th e fair value of the corporate debt securities, auction rate 

securities and asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities, using 

Level 3 inputs, may fl uctuate based on varying assumptions used 

in their valuations, which include the tax status (taxable vs. tax-

exempt), type of security (type of issuer, collateralization, subor-

dination, etc.), credit quality, duration, likelihood of redemption, 

insurance coverage and degree of liquidity in the current credit 

markets. Due to the lack of observable inputs, active markets or 

transparency to the underlying assets, we may rely on qualitative 

factors to estimate the fair values of the investments, including 

general macro-economic information and other data supplied by 

our investment advisers and brokers.

Th e credit ratings for our investments in debt securities as of 

December 31, 2008 are as follows:

  Credit Ratings

    Fair  AA+ BBB+

Dollars in millions Value AAA to A- and Below

Corporate debt securities $ 84.0 $ 14.0 $57.5 $12.5

Asset-backed securities 40.6 33.1 6.0 1.5

Mortgage-backed securities 34.9 30.5 4.2 0.2

Auction rate securities 44.1 44.1 — —

    $203.6 $121.7 $67.7 $14.2

We take into consideration the credit ratings of the individual 

securities when evaluating the fi nancial condition and near term 

prospects of the issuer in determining whether the impairment 

is temporary or other than temporary. See “Critical Accounting 

Policies and Estimates” related to our process of evaluating invest-

ments for impairment and balance sheet classifi cation.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $44.1 million of invest-

ments related to auction rate securities (ARS), net of unrealized 

losses of $7.3 million. Th ese securities were reclassifi ed as trading 

securities for accounting purposes during the quarter ended 

December 31, 2008 and all changes in fair value are recorded to 

non-operating (income) expense, other. Th e ARS are comprised 

of interest bearing state sponsored student loan revenue bonds 

and municipal bonds with varying maturity periods and typically 

provide short-term liquidity via an auction process that also resets 

the applicable interest rate at predetermined calendar intervals 

(typically every 7, 28 or 35 days). Th e student loan revenue bonds 

are collateralized and serviced by underlying student loans and 

the municipal bonds are serviced through revenue generated by 

the issuing municipal entity. In the event of an auction failing 

to settle on its respective settlement date, these funds remain 

invested at a “failed” interest rate which is typically higher than 

the previous market rate until the next successful auction. For 

those auctions that failed to settle, we will not be able to access 

those funds until the next successful auction, another buyer is 

found outside of the auction process, the issuer redeems the 

security or the security matures. As of December 31, 2007, none 

of our $111.7 million of ARS had failed. Commencing in mid-

February 2008, the tightening credit markets and a lesser degree 

of liquidity in the overall credit marketplace caused auctions on 

our ARS to fail. During 2008, we liquidated approximately 

$60.3 million of ARS. As of December 31, 2008, all remaining 

ARS were classifi ed as non-current assets due to unsuccessful 

auctions coupled with current conditions in the general debt 

markets which have created uncertainty as to when successful 

auctions will be reestablished. We do not anticipate having to 

sell these securities below our cost in order to operate our busi-

ness. Th e ARS are insured through two diff erent monoline 

insurers that presently maintain a credit rating of AAA or similar 

designation by S&P, Moody’s and/or Fitch as of December 31, 

2008 or by a U.S. government backed student loan program.

During November 2008, we accepted an off er by our invest-

ment broker to receive an ARS Right that would substantially 

ensure recovery to par of our ARS between June 2010 and July 

2012. We have elected the fair value option for the ARS Right 

and have recorded the ARS Right at fair value to other assets and 

non-operating income, other. At the same time, we reclassifi ed 

the ARS from the available-for-sale category to trading. As of 

December 31, 2008, the ARS Right had a value of $6.2 million, 

which substantially off set the mark-to-market adjustment of 

our outstanding ARS of $7.3 million. See “Critical Accounting 

Policies and Estimates” related to our process of evaluating 

investments for impairment.
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We believe that, based on our current cash, cash equivalents 

and investment balances of approximately $1.4 billion at Decem-

ber 31, 2008 and expected operating cash fl ows, the current 

liquidity concerns in the credit and capital markets will not have 

a material impact on our liquidity, cash fl ow, fi nancial fl exibility 

or our ability to fund our operations.

We believe that we have the fi nancial resources needed to meet 

business requirements for at least the next 12 months, including 

capital expenditures and working capital requirements.

CR IT ICA L ACCOU NT ING POLICIES 

A ND EST I M ATES

Th e preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions in 

certain circumstances that aff ect amounts reported in the accom-

panying consolidated fi nancial statements and related footnotes. 

In preparing these fi nancial statements, management has made 

its best estimates of certain amounts included in the fi nancial 

statements. Application of these accounting policies involves the 

exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncer-

tainties, however, and, as a result, actual results could diff er from 

these estimates. Our signifi cant accounting policies are more 

fully described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 

Statements herein.

Revenue Recognition
We record revenue for product sales when title transfers, the risks 

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, 

the fee is fi xed and determinable and collection of the related 

receivable is reasonably assured, which is generally at the time of 

shipment for non-consignment orders. In the case of consignment 

orders, title passes when the customer pulls the product from the 

assigned storage facility or storage area or, if the customer does 

not pull the product within a contractually stated period of time 

(generally 60–90 days), at the end of that period, or when the 

customer otherwise agrees to take title to the product. Our wafers 

are generally made to customer specifi cations and we conduct 

rigorous quality control and testing procedures to ensure that 

the fi nished wafers meet the customer’s specifi cations before the 

product is shipped. We consider international shipping term 

defi nitions in our determination of when title passes. We defer 

revenue for multiple element arrangements based on an average 

fair value per unit for the total arrangement when we receive 

cash in excess of fair value. We also defer revenue when pricing 

is not fi xed and determinable or other revenue recognition criteria 

is not met.

In connection with supply agreements executed during 2006, we 

received various equity instruments and recorded their estimated 

fair value to long-term deferred revenue. We will recognize the 

deferred revenue on a pro-rata basis as product is shipped over the 

life of the contracts. During 2007, we executed a supply agreement 

in which the terms of any additional consideration provided by 

the customer have not been fi nalized. During 2008, we executed 

a supply agreement in which we obtained a right to subscribe to 

common shares of our customer. If and when the terms are fi nal-

ized for both agreements, the estimated fair value of the additional 

consideration, if determinable and material, will be recorded to 

deferred revenue.

Inventory
Inventories, which consist of materials, labor and manufacturing 

overhead, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Fixed over-

heads are allocated to the costs of conversion based on the normal 

capacity of our production facilities. Unallocated overheads during 

periods of abnormally low production levels are recognized 

as cost of goods sold in the period in which they are incurred. 

Raw materials are stated at weighted-average cost. Goods in pro-

cess and fi nished goods inventories are stated at standard cost as 

adjusted for variances, which approximates weighted-average actual 

cost. Th e valuation of inventory requires us to estimate excess and 

slow moving inventory. Th e determination of the value of excess 

and slow moving inventory is based upon assumptions of future 

demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are 

less favorable than those projected by management, additional 

inventory write-downs may be required.

Property, Plant and Equipment
We depreciate our building, improvements, and machinery and 

equipment evenly over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Changes 

in circumstances such as technological advances, changes in our 

business model, or changes in our capital strategy could result in 

the actual useful lives diff ering from our estimates. In those cases 

where we determine that the useful life of property, plant and 

equipment should be shortened or lengthened, we depreciate the 

net book value over its revised remaining useful life. Concurrent 

with our polysilicon expansion in 2008, we assessed the useful lives 

of certain new polysilicon related property, plant and equipment 
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placed in service in 2008, and based on historical experience with 

similar existing assets, determined that a useful life of 25 years 

was appropriate. Previously existing polysilicon production assets 

were depreciated over an estimated useful life of 10 years and 

have immaterial net book values at December 31, 2008.

In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment 

or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we periodically assess the 

impairment of long-lived assets when conditions indicate a pos-

sible loss. When necessary, we record charges for impairments 

of long-lived assets for the amount by which the present value of 

future cash fl ows, or some other fair value measure, is less than 

the carrying value of these assets. We have recorded no signifi -

cant impairment charges in 2008, 2007 or 2006.

We recognize asset retirement obligations at fair value in the 

period in which they are incurred and the carrying amount of 

the related long-lived asset is correspondingly increased. Over 

time, the liability is accreted to its future value. Th e corresponding 

asset capitalized at inception is depreciated over the useful life of 

the asset. In addition, we could have certain legal obligations for 

asset retirements related to disposing of materials in the event of 

closure, abandonment or sale of certain of our facilities. We plan 

to operate the facilities that are subject to the asset retirement 

obligations for an indeterminate period beyond the forseeable 

future and as such cannot estimate a liability at December 31, 

2008. We will recognize a liability in the period in which we 

have determined the timeframe that the asset will no longer 

operate and information is available to reasonably estimate the 

liability’s fair value.

Income Taxes
In determining taxable income for fi nancial statement reporting 

purposes, we must make certain estimates and judgments. We 

calculate our current and deferred tax provisions based upon 

estimates and assumptions that could diff er from the actual results 

refl ected in our income tax returns fi led during the subsequent year. 

We record adjustments based on fi led returns when we have iden-

tifi ed the adjustments and fi nalized the returns, which is generally 

in the third and fourth quarters of the subsequent year. Th ese 

estimates and judgments are applied in the calculation of certain 

tax liabilities and in the determination of the recoverability of 

deferred tax assets, which arise from temporary diff erences between 

the recognition of assets and liabilities for tax and fi nancial state-

ment reporting purposes. We regularly review our deferred tax 

assets for realizability, taking into consideration all available 

evidence, both positive and negative, including historical pre-tax 

and taxable income (losses), projected future pre-tax and taxable 

income (losses) and the expected timing of the reversals of exist-

ing temporary diff erences. In arriving at these judgments, the 

weight given to the potential eff ect of all positive and negative 

evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be 

objectively verifi ed.

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpre-

tation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” 

(FIN 48), as of January 1, 2007. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition 

threshold and measurement attribute for the fi nancial statement 

recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected 

to be taken in a tax return.

We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S. and numerous 

foreign jurisdictions. From time to time, we are subject to income 

tax audits in these jurisdictions. We believe that our tax return 

positions are fully supported, but tax authorities are likely to 

challenge certain positions, which may not be fully sustained. 

Our income tax expense includes amounts intended to satisfy 

income tax assessments that may result from these challenges. 

Determining the income tax expense for these potential assess-

ments and recording the related assets and liabilities requires 

signifi cant judgments and estimates. Under FIN 48, tax benefi ts 

are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not 

to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. Th e amount 

recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefi t that is 

greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settle-

ment. Unrecognized tax benefi ts are tax benefi ts claimed in our 

tax returns that do not meet these recognition and measurement 

standards. Prior to the adoption of FIN 48, uncertain tax positions 

were accounted for under either FASB Statement No. 5, “Account-

ing for Contingencies,” or FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting 

for Income Taxes.” We believe that our income tax liabilities, 

including related interest, are adequate in relation to the potential 

for additional tax assessments. Th ere is a risk, however, that the 

amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of audits could be materi-

ally diff erent from the amounts previously included in our income 

tax expense and, therefore, could have a material impact on our 

tax provision, net income and cash fl ows. We review our liabilities 

quarterly, and we may adjust such liabilities due to proposed 

assessments by tax authorities, changes in facts and circumstances, 

issuance of new regulations or new case law, negotiations between 

tax authorities of diff erent countries concerning our transfer 

prices, the resolution of entire audits, or the expiration of statutes 
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of limitations. Adjustments, if required, are most likely to occur 

in the year during which major audits are closed.

We repatriate to the United States a portion of the current year 

earnings of a certain subsidiary. We do not provide for U.S. income 

taxes on the remaining undistributed earnings of our foreign sub-

sidiaries which would be payable if the undistributed earnings 

were distributed to the U.S., as we consider those foreign earnings 

to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. We plan foreign 

remittance amounts based on projected cash fl ow needs as well 

as the working capital and long-term investment requirements 

of our foreign subsidiaries and our domestic operations.

Employee-Related Liabilities
We have a long-term net liability for our defi ned benefi t pension 

and other post-employment benefi t plans. Our obligations are 

funded in accordance with provisions of federal law. We adopted 

the recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting 

Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t 

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans” (“SFAS 158”) as of 

December 31, 2006, and the measurement date provisions as of 

December 31, 2008. SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize 

the overfunded or underfunded status of a defi ned benefi t postre-

tirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of fi nancial 

position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year 

in which the changes occur through comprehensive income.

Our pension and other post-employment liabilities are actu-

arially determined, and we use various actuarial assumptions, 

including the discount rate, rate of salary increase, and expected 

return on assets, to estimate our costs and obligations. If our 

assumptions do not materialize as expected, expenditures and 

costs that we incur could diff er from our current estimates. We 

determine the expected return on plan assets based on our pen-

sion plans’ actual asset mix as of the beginning of the year. While 

the assumed expected rate of return on plan assets in 2008 was 

8.3%, the actual return experienced in our pension plan assets in 

the comparable period in 2008 was a loss of 17.7%. We consult 

with the plans’ actuaries to determine a discount rate assumption 

that refl ects the characteristics of our plans, including expected 

cash outfl ows from our plans, and utilize an analytical tool that 

incorporates the concept of a hypothetical yield curve, developed 

from corporate bond (Aa quality) yield information. Assuming a 

100 basis point increase in these assumptions, our 2008 pension 

expense would have been approximately $1.9 million higher. 

Assuming a 100 basis point decrease in these assumptions, our 

2008 pension expense would have been approximately $0.9 mil-

lion lower.

Stock-Based Compensation
Eff ective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition 

provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), 

using the modifi ed prospective transition method and therefore 

have not restated prior periods’ results. Under this transition 

method, stock-based compensation expense for the year ended 

December 31, 2006 included compensation expense for all stock-

based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as 

of, January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated 

in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, 

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. Stock-based com-

pensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted 

after December 31, 2005 is based on the grant-date fair value 

estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. We 

recognize these compensation costs net of an estimated forfeiture 

rate and recognize the compensation costs for only those shares 

expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 

period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term. 

With the adoption of SFAS 123R, we elected to recognize stock-

based compensation expense for all grants on or after January 1, 

2006 on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of 

the entire award for ratable awards. For awards granted prior 

to January 1, 2006, we will continue to calculate compensation 

expense by treating each vesting tranche as a separate award. 

We estimated the forfeiture rate for 2006 and 2007 based on 

our historical experience during the preceding four fi scal years.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based com-

pensation plans under the recognition and measurement provisions 

of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“Opinion 25”), 

“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpre-

tations. Accordingly, we generally recognized expense only when 

we granted options with a discounted exercise price. Any resulting 

compensation expense was recognized over the associated service 

period, which was generally the option vesting term.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating 

the fair value of share-based payment awards require the making 

of subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the share-

based payment awards and stock price volatility. Th e assumptions 

used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards 

represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates 
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involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management 

judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use diff erent 

assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could be 

materially diff erent in the future. In addition, we are required to 

estimate the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only 

for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is 

materially diff erent from our estimate, the stock-based compen-

sation expense could be signifi cantly diff erent from what we 

have recorded in the current period. As of December 31, 2008, 

approximately $52.1 million of total estimated unrecognized 

compensation cost related to stock compensation is expected to 

be recognized over a weighted-average period of two years. See 

Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further 

discussion on stock-based compensation.

Fair Value Measurements
We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157) as of January 1, 

2008. SFAS 157 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in mea-

suring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and 

minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the 

most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs 

are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset 

or liability developed, and are based on market data obtained 

from sources independent of MEMC. Unobservable inputs are 

inputs that refl ect MEMC’s assumptions about the assumptions 

market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability 

based on the best information available in the circumstances. 

Th e hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the 

reliability of inputs as follows:

•  Level 1 – Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities that MEMC has the ability 

to access. Valuation adjustments and block discounts are not 

applied to Level 1 instruments. Because valuations are based 

on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in 

an active market, valuation of these instruments does not 

entail a signifi cant degree of judgment.

•  Level 2 – Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that 

are not active or for which all signifi cant inputs are observable, 

either directly or indirectly. Valuations for Level 2 assets are 

prepared on an individual asset basis using data obtained 

from recent transactions for identical securities in inactive 

markets or pricing data from similar assets in active and 

inactive markets.

•  Level 3 – Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable 

and signifi cant to the overall fair value measurement.

Valuations of our Level 3 available for sale investments 

are performed using a discounted cash fl ow model, which 

involves making assumptions about expected future cash 

fl ows based on estimates of current market interest rates. 

Our models include estimates of market data, including 

yields or spreads of trading instruments that are believed 

to be similar or comparable, when available and assumptions 

that are believed to be reasonable on nonobservable inputs. 

Such assumptions include the tax status (taxable vs. tax-

exempt), type of security (type of issuer, collateralization, 

subordination, etc.), credit quality, duration, likelihood of 

redemption, insurance coverage and degree of liquidity in 

the current credit markets.

In October 2008, the FASB issued Staff  Position No. FAS 157-3, 

“Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Mar-

ket for Th at Asset is Not Active” (FSP 157-3). FSP 157-3 clarifi es 

the application of SFAS 157 in cases where a market is not active. 

MEMC has considered the guidance provided by FSP 157-3 in 

our determination of estimated fair values for our investments as 

of December 31, 2008.

Derivative Financial Instruments
On July 25, 2006, MEMC received a fully vested, non-forfeitable 

warrant to purchase common shares of a customer, Suntech. 

Th e warrant becomes exercisable over a fi ve year period (20% 

annually commencing on January 1, 2008) and has a fi ve year 

exercise period from the date each tranche becomes exercisable. 

Th e warrant is considered a derivative and is therefore marked 

to market each reporting period. Determining the appropriate 

fair value model and estimating the fair  value of the warrant 

requires the making of subjective assumptions, including the 

stock price volatility of Suntech. We used a lattice model to 

estimate the warrant’s fair value. A combination of Suntech’s 

historical and implied stock price volatility was used as an 

indicator of expected volatility.

Investments
Our investment in equity securities consists of a customer’s com-

mon stock (Gintech) acquired in connection with the execution of 

a long-term supply agreement. Th is investment was accounted for 

under the cost method of accounting until December 2008 when 
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the restriction on sale became less than one year. Subsequently, 

this investment is accounted for at fair value and is classifi ed as 

a long-term available-for-sale investment. Th e fair value of the 

investment was estimated based on the closing stock price on 

December 31, 2008, reduced by the estimated value of a put with 

a one year restriction. In 2007, the fair value of the investment 

for disclosure purposes was estimated based on the closing stock 

price on December 31, 2007 reduced by the estimated value 

of a regulatory restriction on sale. Th e value of the regulatory 

restriction on sale was estimated using a Black Scholes model 

considering the stock price volatility, expected term, dividend 

yield and risk-free interest rate.

We also have investments in debt securities which require us 

to make estimates of their fair values to determine the unrealized 

gains and losses on the securities, if any losses are temporary or 

other than temporary and concerning the ability and related timing 

of liquidating our holdings. Unrealized losses are recorded to other 

income and expense when a decline in fair value is determined to 

be other-than-temporary. In accordance with FSP FAS 115-1 

and 124-1, “Th e Meaning of Other-Th an-Temporary Impairment 

and Its Application to Certain Investments,” we review several 

factors to determine whether a loss is other-than-temporary. 

Th ese factors include but are not limited to the: (i) nature of the 

investment; (ii) cause and duration of the impairment; (iii) extent 

to which fair value is less than cost; (iv) fi nancial condition and 

near term prospects of the issuer; and (v) ability to hold the secu-

rity for a period of time suffi  cient to allow for any anticipated 

recovery in fair value. Realized gains and losses are accounted 

for on the specifi c identifi cation method. We determine the 

fair value of our debt securities using quoted prices from active 

and inactive markets, traded prices for similar assets, or fair value 

measurements based on a pricing model. We also review our ability 

to liquidate our investments within the next 12 month operating 

cycle to determine the appropriate short or long-term classifi -

cation. Our ability to liquidate is determined based on a review 

of current and short-term credit and capital market conditions 

and the fi nancial condition and near term prospects of the issuer.

R ECENTLY ISSU ED 

ACCOU NT ING PRONOU NCEMENTS

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business 

Combinations” (SFAS 141R), which establishes principles and 

requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its 

fi nancial statements the identifi able assets acquired, the liabilities 

assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in an acquiree, including 

the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in a busi-

ness combination. Th e requirements of SFAS 141R are eff ective 

for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 

after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period beginning 

on or after December 15, 2008, with the exception of the accounting 

for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contin-

gencies. SFAS 141R amends SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income 

Taxes” (SFAS 109) such that adjustments made to valuation allow-

ances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contingencies associated 

with acquisitions that closed prior to the eff ective date of SFAS 141R 

would also apply the provisions of SFAS 141R. Early adoption was 

not permitted. Upon adoption, SFAS 141R will not have a signifi -

cant impact on our fi nancial position and results of operations, 

however, any business combination entered into after the adoption 

may signifi cantly impact our consolidated results of operations and 

fi nancial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non-

controlling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an 

amendment of ARB No. 51” (SFAS 160). SFAS 160 amends 

ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the 

noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation 

of a subsidiary. It clarifi es that a noncontrolling interest in a sub-

sidiary, which is sometimes referred to as minority interest, is 

an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be 

reported as equity in the consolidated fi nancial statements. Among 

other requirements, this statement requires consolidated net 

income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attrib-

utable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also 

requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated income state-

ment, of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to 

the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. Th e requirements 

of SFAS 160 are eff ective for fi scal years, and interim periods 

within those fi scal years, beginning on or after December 15, 

2008. We do not expect SFAS 160 to have a material eff ect on 

our consolidated results of operations and fi nancial condition.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures 

about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, an amend-

ment of FASB Statement No. 133” (SFAS 161). Th is statement 

is intended to improve transparency in fi nancial reporting by 

requiring enhanced disclosures of an entity’s derivative instruments 

and hedging activities and their eff ects on the entity’s fi nancial 

position, fi nancial performance, and cash fl ows. SFAS 161 applies 

to all derivative instruments within the scope of SFAS 133, 
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M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F 

F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” 

(SFAS 133), as well as related hedged items, bifurcated derivatives, 

and nonderivative instruments that are designated and qualify 

as hedging instruments. Entities with instruments subject to 

SFAS 161 must provide more robust qualitative disclosures and 

expanded quantitative disclosures. SFAS 161 is eff ective 

prospectively for fi nancial statements issued for fi scal years 

and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with 

early application permitted. We do not expect SFAS 161 to 

have a material eff ect on our consolidated results of operations 

and fi nancial condition.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1, 

“Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefi t Plan Assets.” 

Th is FSP amends SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ 

Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefi ts,” 

to provide guidance on an employer’s disclosures about plan assets 

of a defi ned benefi t pension or other postretirement plan including 

investment policies and strategies, major categories of plan assets, 

inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of 

plan assets and signifi cant concentrations of risk within plan assets. 

Th is FSP is eff ective for fi scal years ending after December 15, 2009, 

with earlier application permitted. Upon initial application, the 

provisions of this FSP are not required for earlier periods that are 

presented for comparative purposes. We are currently evaluating 

the disclosure requirements of this new FSP, however its adoption 

will not have an impact on our consolidated results of operations 

and fi nancial condition.

M A R K ET R ISK

Th e overall objective of our fi nancial risk management program 

is to reduce the potential negative earnings eff ects from changes 

in foreign exchange and interest rates arising in our business 

activities. We manage these fi nancial exposures through opera-

tional means and by using various fi nancial instruments. Th ese 

practices may change as economic conditions change.

To mitigate fi nancial market risks of foreign currency exchange 

rates, we utilize currency forward contracts. We do not use deriva-

tive fi nancial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. We 

generally hedge transactional currency risks with currency forward 

contracts. Gains and losses on these foreign currency exposures are 

generally off set by corresponding losses and gains on the related 

hedging instruments, resulting in negligible net exposure to MEMC. 

A substantial majority of our revenue and capital spending is trans-

acted in U.S. Dollars. However, we do enter into these transactions 

in other currencies, primarily, the Euro, the Japanese Yen, and 

certain other Asian currencies. To protect against reductions in 

value and volatility of future cash fl ows caused by changes in foreign 

exchange rates, we have established transaction-based hedging 

programs. Our hedging programs reduce, but do not always elimi-

nate, the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements. In 

addition to the direct eff ects of changes in exchange rates, such 

changes typically aff ect the volume of sales or the foreign currency 

sales price as competitors’ products become more or less attractive. 

Our Taiwan, Malaysia and Singapore based subsidiaries use the 

U.S. Dollar as their functional currencies for US GAAP purposes 

and do not hedge New Taiwanese Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit or 

Singapore Dollar exposures.

We are subject to interest rate risk related to our cash equivalents, 

investments and pension plan assets. To mitigate substantial risk 

associated with changes in interest rates, we seek to obtain fi xed rate 

securities, actively manage our portfolio duration and diversify across 

diff erent currencies. Our long-term debt is also at a fi xed rate. In 

addition to interest rate risk on our cash equivalents, investments 

and pension plan assets, we are subject to issuer credit risk because 

the value of our investments may change based on liquidity issues 

or adverse economic conditions aff ecting the creditworthiness of 

the issuers or group of issuers of the securities we may own. As of 

December 31, 2008, our investments were in fi xed income funds, 

individual corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, mortgage-

backed securities and auction rate securities, comprised of tax exempt 

municipal bonds and state sponsored student loan revenue bonds. 

Our pension plan assets are invested primarily in marketable securi-

ties including common stocks, bonds and interest bearing deposits. 

Due to the continued liquidity conditions in the global credit 

markets and failed auctions for some of our auction rate securities 

at December 31, 2008, we classifi ed certain debt securities, previ-

ously recorded as current, with a fair value of $99.1 million, as 

non-current assets. See additional discussion in “Liquidity and 

Capital Resources” and “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.” 

Due to the diversity of and numerous securities in our portfolio, 

estimating a hypothetical change in value of our portfolio based on 

estimated changes in interest rates and issuer risk is not practical.

With the receipt of the Suntech warrant and our investment 

in a customer’s stock, we are exposed to equity price risk. A 

hypothetical 10% change in the stock price of our customer 

in which we maintain a warrant would result in an estimated 

change in the fair value of the warrant of approximately $4 mil-

lion at December 31, 2008.
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2008
Dollars in millions, except per share data  First Quarter Second Quarter Th ird Quarter Fourth Quarter

Net sales  $501.4 $531.4 $546.0 $425.7
Gross profi t  259.3 282.8 269.7 193.0
(Loss) income before minority interests  (40.7) 177.5 183.6 69.2
Minority interests  (1.1) (1.4) (0.8) 1.1
Net (loss) income  (41.8) 176.1 182.8 70.3
Basic (loss) income per share  (0.18) 0.77 0.81 0.31
Diluted (loss) income per share  (0.18) 0.76 0.80 0.31
Market close stock prices:

 High  87.88 77.35 59.64 28.83
 Low   63.08 61.38 26.52 10.45

A loss of $209.4 million, $12.3 million, $9.6 million and $61.2 million was recorded to non-operating expense in the quarters ended 

March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2008, respectively, due to the mark to market adjustment related to the Suntech 

warrant received in 2006 as discussed in Note 2(m) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2007
Dollars in millions, except per share data  First Quarter Second Quarter Th ird Quarter Fourth Quarter

Net sales  $440.4 $472.7 $472.8 $535.9

Gross profi t  222.5 245.6 238.8 293.6

Income before minority interests  136.1 164.9 151.2 377.4

Minority interests  (1.4) (1.3) 0.3 (1.0)

Net income  134.7 163.6 151.5 376.4

Basic income per share  0.60 0.73 0.67 1.65

Diluted income per share  0.58 0.70 0.65 1.62

Market close stock prices:

 High  63.60 67.43 63.64 94.02

 Low   40.29 54.09 53.34 59.17

A (gain)/loss of $1.1 million, ($7.9) million, ($9.3) million and ($204.7) million was recorded to non-operating (income) expense 

in the quarters ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2007, respectively, due to the mark to market adjustment 

related to the Suntech warrant received in 2006 as discussed in Note 2(m) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

U N A U D I T E D  Q U A R T E R L Y  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N
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 For the year ended December 31,
  2008  2007  2006
Net sales   $2,004.5  $1,921.8  $1,540.6
Cost of goods sold  999.7  921.3  851.6
  Gross profi t  1,004.8  1,000.5  689.0
Operating expenses:
 Marketing and administration  110.8  111.3  94.9
 Research and development  40.8  39.3  35.8
  Operating income  853.2  849.9  558.3
Non-operating (income) expense:
 Interest expense  1.8  1.4  2.4
 Interest income  (46.4)  (45.0)  (14.6)
 Decline (increase) in fair value of warrant  292.5  (220.8)  (18.9)
 Other, net  20.3  2.5  (1.1)
  Total non-operating expense (income)  268.2  (261.9)  (32.2)
 Income before income tax expense and minority interests  585.0  1,111.8  590.5
Income tax expense  195.4  282.2  214.8
 Income before minority interests  389.6  829.6  375.7
Minority interests  (2.2)  (3.4)  (6.4)
Net income  $  387.4  $  826.2  $  369.3
Basic income per share  $   1.71  $   3.66  $   1.66
Diluted income per share  $   1.69  $   3.56  $   1.61
Weighted-average shares used in computing basic income per share  226.9  225.6  222.1
Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted income per share  228.6  232.3  229.7
See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E
(In millions, except per share data)
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S
(In millions, except per share data)

 As of December 31, 
       2008  2007
Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents    $  988.3  $  859.3
 Short-term investments    148.4  457.1
 Accounts receivable, net    197.3  197.9
 Inventories    81.3  36.4
 Prepaid and other current assets    38.9  38.8
   Total current assets    1,454.2  1,589.5
Investments    284.7  12.7
Property, plant and equipment, net    1,041.2  834.0
Deferred tax assets, net    69.7  89.3
Customer warrant    13.8  306.3
Other assets    73.1  55.4
   Total assets    $2,936.7  $2,887.2
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Current portion of long-term debt    $    6.1  $    5.3
 Accounts payable    162.4  168.3
 Accrued liabilities    67.5  40.8
 Accrued wages and salaries    31.7  31.9
 Customer deposits    187.0  122.0
 Income taxes payable    17.9  75.9
   Total current liabilities    472.6  444.2
Long-term debt, less current portion    26.1  25.6
Pension and post-employment liabilities    46.3  60.6
Deferred revenue    88.8  81.4
Other liabilities    186.1  204.6
   Total liabilities    819.9  816.4
Minority interests    34.8  35.8
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
 Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50.0 shares authorized, none issued  
  or outstanding at December 31, 2008 or 2007    —  —
 Common stock, $.01 par value, 300.0 shares authorized, 233.3 and  
  231.9 issued at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively    2.3  2.3
 Additional paid-in capital    425.6  358.0
 Retained earnings    2,147.1  1,760.5
 Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income    (55.6)  29.8
 Treasury stock: 8.8 and 2.6 shares at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively    (437.4)  (115.6)
   Total stockholders’ equity    2,082.0  2,035.0
   Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $2,936.7  $2,887.2
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 For the year ended December 31,
      2008  2007  2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
 Net income  $ 387.4  $ 826.2  $ 369.3
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization  104.0  80.7  70.2
  Stock-based compensation  28.5  31.1  19.0
  Provision for deferred taxes  54.1  24.5  47.1
  Decline (increase) in fair value of warrant  292.5  (220.8)  (18.9)
  Other   20.9  2.3  2.8
  Changes in assets and liabilities:
   Short-term investments — trading securities  —  9.5  (0.8)
   Accounts receivable  (4.3)  6.0  (69.8)
   Inventories  (43.7)  45.5  42.6
   Prepaid and other current assets  (12.0)  (3.9)  3.7
   Accounts payable and accrueds  24.2  23.9  (22.0)
   Deferred revenue and customer deposits  (33.1)  39.0  (9.3)
   Income taxes payable  (59.1)  18.3  45.6
   Pension and post-employment liabilities  (72.4)  (9.9)  10.1
   Other non-current assets and liabilities  (46.5)  44.8  38.2
  Net cash provided by operating activities  640.5  917.2  527.8
Cash flows from investing activities:
 Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments  485.5  93.2  32.2
 Purchases of investments  (517.3)  (506.4)  (62.0)
 Capital expenditures  (303.2)  (276.4)  (148.4)
 Other    —  0.7  4.0
  Net cash used in investing activities  (335.0)  (688.9)  (174.2)
Cash flows from financing activities:
 Net repayments on short-term borrowings  —  —  (13.2)
 Net proceeds from customer deposits related to long-term supply agreements  138.0  115.3  37.3
 Principal payments on long-term debt  (6.0)  (5.2)  (5.3)
 Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements  19.0  40.0  10.5
 Dividend to minority interest  (3.2)  (6.2)  (5.6)
 Common stock repurchased  (321.0)  (111.2)  —
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock  19.9  44.2  17.1
  Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  (153.3)  76.9  40.8
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (23.2)  26.6  6.6
  Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  129.0  331.8  401.0
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  859.3  527.5  126.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 988.3  $ 859.3  $ 527.5
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
 Interest payments, net of amount capitalized  $   1.1  $   0.4  $   1.4
 Income taxes paid  $ 194.4  $ 147.8  $    77.0
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
 Accounts payable (relieved) incurred for acquisition of fixed assets  $  (6.9)  $  19.3  $  24.9
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 
C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
(In millions)
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
(In millions)

     Accumulated
 Common Stock  Additional  Other  Common Stock  Total Total
 Issued  Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Deferred Held in Treasury  Stockholders’ Comprehensive
 Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Compensation Shares Amount Equity Income (Loss)

Balance at December 31, 2005 222.3 $2.2 $191.6 $ 557.7 $(35.8) $(0.1) (0.7) $  (4.2) $  711.4
SAB 108 cumulative eff ect adjustment — — — 6.8 — — — — 6.8
SFAS 158 adjustment (net of $4.4 tax) — — — — 7.1 — — — 7.1
Comprehensive income:
  Net income — — — 369.3 — — — — 369.3 $369.3
  Net translation adjustment — — — — 18.6 — — — 18.6 18.6
  Minimum pension liability 
   (net of $1.6 tax) — — — — 2.7 — — — 2.7 2.7
Stock plans, net 1.7 — 50.9 — — 0.1 — — 51.0
Total comprehensive income          $390.6
Balance at December 31, 2006 224.0 $2.2 $242.5 $ 933.8 $ (7.4) $ — (0.7) $  (4.2) $1,166.9
FIN 48 adjustment — — — 0.5 — — — — 0.5
Comprehensive income:
  Net income — — — 826.2 — — — — 826.2 $826.2
  Net translation adjustment — — — — 32.3 — — — 32.3 32.3
  Net unrecognized actuarial loss and 
   prior service credit (net of $5.9 tax) — — — — 9.2 — — — 9.2 9.2
  Net unrealized loss on 
   available-for-sale securities — — — — (4.3) — — — (4.3) (4.3)
Stock plans, net 3.4 — 115.6 — — — (0.1) (0.2) 115.4
Common stock repurchases — — — — — — (1.8) (111.2) (111.2)
Net exercise of warrants 4.5 0.1 (0.1) — — — — — —
Total comprehensive income          $863.4
Balance at December 31, 2007 231.9 $2.3 $358.0 $1,760.5 $ 29.8 $ — (2.6) $(115.6) $2,035.0
SFAS 158 adjustment — 
 adoption of measurement date provision — — — (0.8) — — — — (0.8)
Comprehensive income:
  Net income — — — 387.4 — — — — 387.4 $387.4
  Net translation adjustment — — — — (14.2) — — — (14.2) (14.2)
  Net unrecognized actuarial loss and 
   prior service credit (net of $17.5 tax) — — — — (32.3) — — — (32.3) (32.3)
  Net unrealized loss on 
   available-for-sale securities — — — — (38.9) — — — (38.9) (38.9)
Stock plans, net 1.4 — 67.6 — — — — (0.8) 66.8
Common stock repurchases — — — — — — (6.2) (321.0) (321.0)
Total comprehensive income          $302.0
 Balance at December 31, 2008 233.3 $2.3 $425.6 $2,147.1 $(55.6) $ — (8.8) $(437.4) $2,082.0
See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

1. NAT UR E OF OPER AT IONS

We are a vertically integrated, global leader in the manufacture and 

sale of wafers and have been a pioneer in the design and develop-

ment of wafer technologies for fi fty years. With research and 

development and manufacturing facilities in the US, Europe and 

Asia Pacifi c, we enable the next generation of high performance 

semiconductor and solar applications. Our customers include major 

semiconductor device and solar cell manufacturers. We provide 

wafers in sizes ranging from 100 millimeters (4 inch) to 300 milli-

meters (12 inch) for semiconductor applications and 156 millimeter 

wafers for solar applications. Depending on market conditions, we 

also sell intermediate products such as polysilicon, silane gas, ingots 

and scrap wafers to semiconductor device and equipment makers, 

solar cell and module manufacturers, fl at panel and other industries.

2 .   SU M M A RY OF SIGNIF ICA NT 

ACCOU NT ING POLICIES

(a) Use of Estimates
In preparing our fi nancial statements, we use estimates and 

assumptions that may aff ect reported amounts and disclosures. 

Estimates are used when accounting for investments, depreciation, 

amortization, accrued liabilities, employee benefi ts, derivatives, 

stock based compensation, income taxes and asset valuation 

allowances among others. To the extent there are material diff er-

ences between the estimates and actual results, our future results 

of operations would be aff ected.

(b) Reclassifi cations
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifi ed to conform 

with the current year presentation.

(c) Principles of Consolidation
Our consolidated fi nancial statements include the accounts of 

MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and our wholly and majority-

owned subsidiaries. We record minority interest for non-wholly 

owned consolidated subsidiaries. All signif icant inter-

company balances and transactions among our subsidiaries 

have been eliminated.

In November 2001, Texas Pacifi c Group (TPG) acquired a 

benefi cial ownership of approximately 72% of the outstanding 

stock of MEMC. In connection with that transaction, the assets 

of a majority-owned subsidiary were understated and a portion 

of the subsequent depreciation of those assets should have been 

charged to minority interests. Th e eff ect in any individual prior 

year was not material to our results of operations, fi nancial 

position or cash fl ows. During 2006, MEMC adopted the 

provisions of Staff  Accounting Bulletin No. 108 and recorded a 

cumulative credit adjustment of $6.8 million to beginning retained 

earnings related to the minority interest that was overstated as of 

December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2007, TPG no longer 

had any benefi cial ownership of MEMC stock.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include highly liquid commercial paper, time 

deposits and money market funds with original maturity periods of 

three months or less when purchased. Total cash and cash equiva-

lents of $138.0 million and $353.8 million as of December 31, 2008 

and 2007, respectively, are maintained by foreign subsidiaries whose 

functional currency is not the U.S. dollar.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Cash   $ 82.9 $285.0

Cash equivalents

 Commercial paper  — 45.5

 Time deposits  119.4 296.9

 Money market funds  786.0 231.9

     $988.3 $859.3

(e) Investments
Short and long-term investments consist of the following:

Time Deposits. Time deposits, classifi ed as short-term investments, 

are comprised mainly of demand deposits with commercial banks 

or investment companies having fi xed original maturities exceed-

ing three months but less than or equal to one year, with fi xed 

interest rates and including pre-payment penalties for early with-

drawal. Purchases and sales of these time deposits are included in 

investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Trading Investments. Trading investments are stated at fair value, 

with realized and unrealized gains or losses resulting from changes 

in fair value recognized currently in non-operating income and 

expense. Included in trading investments are auction rate securi-

ties. Purchases and sales of trading investments are included in 

operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Available-for-Sale Investments. Investments designated as 

available-for-sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains 

and losses, net of tax, recorded in accumulated other comprehen-

sive income. Purchases and sales of available-for-sale investments 
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are included in investing activities in the Consolidated Statements 

of Cash Flows.

Investments are evaluated at each period end date for impairment, 

including classifi cation as temporary or other than temporary. 

Unrealized losses are recorded to other income and expense when 

a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary. 

In accordance with FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1, “Th e Meaning of 

Other-Th an-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain 

Investments,” we review several factors to determine whether a loss 

is other-than-temporary. Th ese factors include but are not limited to 

the: (i) nature of the investment; (ii) cause and duration of the impair-

ment; (iii) extent to which fair value is less than cost; (iv) fi nancial 

condition and near term prospects of the issuer; and (v) ability to hold 

the security for a period of time suffi  cient to allow for any anticipated 

recovery in fair value. Realized gains and losses are accounted for 

on the specifi c identifi cation method. We determine the fair value 

of our debt securities using quoted prices from active and inactive 

markets, traded prices for similar assets, or fair value measurements 

based on a pricing model. We also review our ability and intent to 

liquidate our investments within the next 12 month operating cycle 

to determine the appropriate short or long-term classifi cation. Our 

ability to liquidate is determined based on a review of current and 

short-term credit and capital market conditions and the fi nancial 

condition and near term prospects of the issuer.

(f) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts to adjust our 

net receivables to amounts considered to be ultimately collectible. 

Our allowance is based on a variety of factors, including the 

length of time receivables are past due, signifi cant one-time 

events, the fi nancial health of our customers and historical expe-

rience. Th e balance of our allowance for doubtful accounts was 

$5.9 million and $0.2 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 

respectively. Bad debt expense was $5.7 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2008. During the year ended December 31, 2007, 

we reduced our estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts 

by approximately $1.2 million with the off set recorded to the 

income statement. Th ere were no write-off s for bad debts for the 

years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. As discussed in Note 16, 

in late February 2009, we revised our estimate for the allowance 

for doubtful accounts and recorded an additional $4.5 million of 

bad debt expense, which is included in the 2008 amounts above.

(g) Inventories
Inventories, which consist of materials, labor and manufacturing 

overhead, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Fixed overheads 

are allocated to the costs of conversion based on the normal capacity 

of our production facilities. Unallocated overheads during periods 

of abnormally low production levels are recognized as cost of goods 

sold in the period in which they are incurred. Raw materials are 

stated at weighted-average cost. Goods in process and fi nished goods 

inventories are stated at standard cost as adjusted for variances, 

which approximates weighted-average actual cost. Th e valuation of 

inventory requires us to estimate excess and slow moving inventory. 

Th e determination of the value of excess and slow moving inven-

tory is based upon assumptions of future demand and market con-

ditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those 

projected by management, inventory write-downs may be required.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment
We record property, plant and equipment at cost and depreciate it 

evenly over the assets’ estimated useful lives as follows:

      Years

Buildings and improvements   4–60

Machinery and equipment   1–25

Concurrent with our polysilicon expansions in 2008, we assessed 

the useful lives of certain new polysilicon related property, plant 

and equipment placed in service in 2008, and based on historical 

experience with similar existing assets, determined that a useful 

life of 25 years was appropriate. Previously existing polysilicon 

production assets were depreciated over an estimated useful life 

of 10 years and have immaterial net book values at December 31, 

2008. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter 

of the estimated remaining useful life of the asset or the remain-

ing lease term including renewal periods considered reasonably 

assured of execution. Depreciation expense for the years ended 

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $103.0 million, $79.3 

million and $68.2 million, respectively.

Th e cost of constructing facilities and equipment includes 

interest costs. Capitalized interest totaled $0.8 million, $1.0 mil-

lion and $0.7 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(i)  Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
and Asset Retirement Obligations

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-

Lived Assets,” we periodically assess the impairment of long-lived 

assets when conditions indicate a possible loss. When necessary, 

we record charges for impairments of long-lived assets for the 

amount by which the present value of future cash fl ows, or some 
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other fair value measure, is less than the carrying value of these 

assets. We have recorded no signifi cant impairment charges in 

2008, 2007 or 2006.

We recognize asset retirement obligations at fair value in the 

period in which they are incurred and the carrying amount of the 

related long-lived asset is correspondingly increased. Over time, 

the liability is accreted to its future value. Th e corresponding asset 

capitalized at inception is depreciated over the useful life of the 

asset. In addition, we could have certain legal obligations for asset 

retirements related to disposing of materials in the event of closure, 

abandonment or sale of certain of our facilities. We plan to operate 

the facilities that are subject to the asset retirement obligations for 

an indeterminate period beyond the foreseeable future and as such, 

cannot estimate a liability at December 31, 2008. We will recog-

nize a liability in the period in which we have determined the 

timeframe that the asset will no longer operate and information is 

available to reasonably estimate the liability’s fair value.

(j) Operating Leases
Th e Company enters into lease agreements for a variety of busi-

ness purposes, including offi  ce and manufacturing space, offi  ce 

and manufacturing equipment and computer equipment. A por-

tion of these are noncancellable operating leases.

(k) Customer Deposits
MEMC has executed supply agreements, including any amend-

ments, with multiple customers which required the customers to 

provide security deposits. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the 

balance of these deposits totaled $290.3 million and $152.6 million, 

respectively. Th ese deposits are required to be refunded to the 

customers over the next two years, as set forth in the agreements, 

unless minimum purchase quantities are not met. Th ese deposits 

are generally refundable to the customer over two years. Th e long-

term portion of these deposits is included in other non-current 

liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 

2008, the following obligations were outstanding:

 Refundable Amounts Due By Period

     Less than 1–2

Dollars in millions Total 1 Year  Years

Customer deposits $290.3 $186.0 $104.3

(l) Revenue Recognition
We record revenue for product sales when title transfers, the risks 

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, 

the fee is fi xed and determinable and collection of the related 

receivable is reasonably assured, which is generally at the time of 

shipment for non-consignment orders. In the case of consignment 

orders, title passes when the customer pulls the product from the 

assigned MEMC storage facility or storage area or, if the customer 

does not pull the product within a contractually stated period of 

time (generally 60–90 days), at the end of that period, or when 

the customer otherwise agrees to take title to the product. Our 

wafers are generally made to customer specifi cations and we con-

duct rigorous quality control and testing procedures to ensure 

that the fi nished wafers meet the customer’s specifi cations before 

the product is shipped. We consider international shipping term 

defi nitions in our determination of when title passes. We defer 

revenue for multiple element arrangements based on a fair value 

per unit for the total arrangement when we receive cash in excess 

of fair value. We also defer revenue when pricing is not fi xed and 

determinable or other revenue recognition criteria is not met.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, MEMC had $16.0 million 

and $6.1 million, respectively of long-term deferred revenue related 

to the non-refundable portion of cash received in connection with 

long-term supply agreements. MEMC also had $72.8 million and 

$75.3 million of long-term deferred revenue related to additional 

consideration received from our customers in the form of equity 

instruments as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. We 

recognize the deferred revenue on a pro-rata basis as product is 

shipped over the life of the contracts.

(m) Derivative Financial Instruments
During 2006, MEMC signed a long-term supply agreement 

with a customer, Suntech Power Holdings (Suntech). At the same 

time, MEMC received a fully vested, non-forfeitable warrant to 

purchase common shares of Suntech. Th e warrant becomes exer-

cisable over a fi ve year period (20% annually) beginning January 1, 

2008 and has a fi ve year exercise period from the date each tranche 

becomes exercisable. Th e estimated grant date fair value of the 

warrant was $66.6 million and was recorded to customer warrant 

with the off set to deferred revenue  — long-term in accordance with 

EITF 00-8 “Accounting by a Grantee for an Equity Instrument 

to be received in conjunction with Providing Goods or Services.” 

Th e non-cash transaction was excluded from the Consolidated 

Statements of Cash Flows. Determining the appropriate fair 

value model and calculating the fair value of the warrant require 

the making of estimates and assumptions, including Suntech’s 

stock price volatility, interest rate, dividends, marketability and 

expected return requirements. We used a lattice model to deter-

mine the warrant’s fair value. Th e assumptions used in calculating 
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the fair value of the warrant represent our best estimates, but 

these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application 

of our judgment. Th e warrant is considered a derivative and is 

therefore marked to market each reporting period. Accordingly, 

in 2008, 2007 and 2006, $292.5 million, ($220.8) million and 

($18.9) million, respectively, was recorded as a decrease/(increase) 

to other assets — long-term and non-operating (income) expense.

We generally use currency forward contracts to manage foreign 

currency exchange risk relating to current trade receivables with 

our foreign subsidiaries and current trade receivables and payables 

with our customers and vendors denominated in foreign currencies 

(primarily Japanese Yen and Euro). Th e purpose of our foreign 

currency forward contract activities is to protect us from the 

risk that the dollar net cash fl ows resulting from foreign cur-

rency transactions will be negatively aff ected by changes in 

exchange rates. We do not hold or issue fi nancial instruments 

for speculative or trading purposes.

Gains or losses on our forward exchange contracts, as well as 

the off setting losses or gains on the related hedged receivables, 

are included in non-operating (income) expense in the Consoli-

dated Statements of Income. Net currency losses on unhedged 

foreign currency positions totaled $3.0 million, $1.7 million and 

$1.1 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(n) Translation of Foreign Currencies
We determined the functional currency of each subsidiary based 

on a number of factors, including the predominant currency for 

the subsidiary’s expenditures and the subsidiary’s borrowings. 

When the subsidiary’s local currency is considered its functional 

currency, we translate its fi nancial statements to U.S. Dollars 

as follows:

•  Assets and liabilities using exchange rates in eff ect at the 

balance sheet date; and

•  Statement of income accounts at average exchange rates 

for the period.

Adjustments from the translation process are presented 

in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stock-

holders’ equity.

(o) Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes arise because of a diff erent tax basis of 

assets or liabilities between fi nancial statement accounting and 

tax accounting, which are known as temporary diff erences. We 

record the tax eff ect of these temporary diff erences as deferred

tax assets (generally items that can be used as a tax deduction 

or credit in future periods) and deferred tax liabilities (generally 

items for which we receive a tax deduction, but have not yet been 

recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income). We regu-

larly review our deferred tax assets for realizability, taking into 

consideration all available evidence, both positive and negative, 

including historical pre-tax and taxable income (losses), projected 

future pre-tax and taxable income (losses) and the expected timing 

of the reversals of existing temporary diff erences. In arriving at 

these judgments, the weight given to the potential eff ect of all 

positive and negative evidence is commensurate with the extent 

to which it can be objectively verifi ed.

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpre-

tation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” 

(FIN 48), as of January 1, 2007. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition 

threshold and measurement attribute for the fi nancial statement 

recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected 

to be taken in a tax return.

Under FIN 48, tax benefi ts are recognized only for tax positions 

that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by 

tax authorities. Th e amount recognized is measured as the largest 

amount of benefi t that is greater than 50 percent likely to be real-

ized upon ultimate settlement. Unrecognized tax benefi ts are tax 

benefi ts claimed in our tax returns that do not meet these recog-

nition and measurement standards. We believe that our income 

tax liabilities, including related interest, are adequate in relation 

to the potential for additional tax assessments. Th ere is a risk, 

however, that the amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of 

audits could be materially diff erent from the amounts previously 

included in our income tax expense and, therefore, could have a 

material impact on our tax provision, net income and cash fl ows. 

We review our liabilities quarterly, and we may adjust such liabil-

ities due to proposed assessments by tax authorities, changes in 

facts and circumstances, issuance of new regulations or new case 

law, negotiations between tax authorities of diff erent countries 

concerning our transfer prices, the resolution of entire audits, or 

the expiration of statutes of limitations. Adjustments are most 

likely to occur in the year during which major audits are closed.

We repatriate to the United States a portion of the current year 

earnings of a certain subsidiary for which deferred taxes have been 

recorded. We do not provide for U.S. income taxes on the remain-

ing undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries which would 

be payable if the undistributed earnings were distributed to the 

U.S., as we consider those foreign earnings to be permanently 

reinvested outside the U.S. We plan foreign remittance amounts 
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based on projected cash fl ow needs as well as the working capital 

and long-term investment requirements of our foreign subsidiaries 

and our domestic operations.

(p) Stock-Based Compensation
Eff ective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition 

provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), 

using the modifi ed prospective transition method and therefore we 

did not restate prior periods’ results. Under this transition method, 

stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 

2006 included compensation expense for all stock-based compensa-

tion awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, 

based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the 

original provisions of SFAS 123. Stock-based compensation expense 

for all share-based payment awards granted after December 31, 2005 

is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with 

the provisions of SFAS 123R. We recognize these compensation 

costs net of an estimated forfeiture rate and recognize the compen-

sation costs for only those shares expected to vest on a straight-line 

basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally 

the option vesting term. With the adoption of SFAS 123R, we elected 

to recognize stock-based compensation expense for all grants on or 

after January 1, 2006 on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 

period of the entire award for ratable awards. For awards granted 

prior to January 1, 2006, we will continue to calculate compensation 

expense by treating each vesting tranche as a separate award. We 

estimate the forfeiture rate taking into consideration our historical 

experience during the preceding four fi scal years.

We routinely examine our assumptions used in estimating the 

fair value of employee options granted. As part of this assessment, 

we have determined that our historical stock price volatility and 

historical pattern of option exercises are appropriate indicators 

of expected volatility and expected term. Th e interest rate is 

determined based on the implied yield currently available on 

U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal 

to the expected term of the award. We estimate the fair value 

of options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for our 

ratable and cliff  vesting options.

(q) Contingencies
We record contingent liabilities when the amount can be reasonably 

estimated and the loss is probable.

(r) Shipping and Handling
Costs to ship products to customers are included in marketing and 

administration in the consolidated statements of income. Amounts 

billed to customers, if any, to cover shipping and handling are 

included in net sales. Cost to ship products to customers were 

$11.2 million, $10.9 million and $9.6 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(s) Fair Value Measurements
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157), which establishes 

a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures 

about fair value measurements. In February 2008, the FASB issued 

FASB FSP 157-2 which delays the eff ective date of SFAS 157 for 

certain non-fi nancial assets and non-fi nancial liabilities, until 

fi scal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim 

periods within those fi scal years. We do not believe SFAS 157 

will have a material impact upon adoption on our consolidated 

fi nancial statements related to non-fi nancial assets and liabilities. 

Eff ective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS 157 for fi nancial 

assets and liabilities recognized at fair value on a recurring basis 

which did not have a material impact on our consolidated fi nan-

cial position, results of operations or cash fl ows. In October 2008, 

the FASB issued Staff  Position No. FAS 157-3, “Determining the 

Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for Th at Asset 

is Not Active” (FSP 157-3). FSP 157-3 clarifi es the application of 

SFAS 157 in cases where a market is not active. MEMC has applied 

the guidance provided by FSP 157-3 in our determination of esti-

mated fair values for our investments as of December 31, 2008.

SFAS 157 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring 

fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and mini-

mizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most 

observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are 

inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or 

liability developed, and are based on market data obtained from 

sources independent of MEMC. Unobservable inputs refl ect 

assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset 

or liability based on the best information available in the circum-

stances. Th e hierarchy is broken down into three levels based 

on the reliability of inputs as follows:

•  Level 1 — Valuations based on quoted prices in active mar-

kets for identical assets or liabilities that MEMC has the 

ability to access. Valuation adjustments and block discounts 
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are not applied to Level 1 instruments. Because valuations 

are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly 

available in an active market, valuation of these instruments 

does not entail a signifi cant degree of judgment.

•  Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that 

are not active or for which all signifi cant inputs are observ-

able, either directly or indirectly. Valuations for Level 2 assets 

are prepared on an individual asset basis using data obtained 

from recent transactions for identical securities in inactive 

markets or pricing data from similar assets in active and 

inactive markets.

•  Level 3 — Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable 

and signifi cant to the overall fair value measurement.

On January 1, 2008, MEMC adopted Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards No. 159, “Th e Fair Value Option for 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — including an amend-

ment of FASB Statement No. 115” (SFAS 159). Th is statement 

permits entities to choose to measure many fi nancial instruments 

and certain other items at fair value. Th is statement also establishes 

presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate 

comparisons between entities that choose diff erent measurement 

attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. Unrealized 

gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been 

elected are reported in earnings. We have adopted SFAS 159, and 

did not elect to designate any fi nancial instruments to be subject 

to the fair value option at the date of adoption. Subsequently, we 

have elected to account for the auction rate securities right (the 

ARS Right) under the fair value option as discussed in Note 3.

We maintain various fi nancial instruments recorded at cost 

in the December 31, 2008 and 2007 balance sheets that are not 

required to be recorded at fair value. For these instruments, we used 

the following methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value:

•  Cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable, 

income taxes payable, short-term borrowings, and 

accrued liabilities – cost approximates fair value because 

of the short maturity period; and

•  Long-term debt – fair value is based on the amount of 

future cash fl ows associated with each debt instrument 

discounted at our current borrowing rate for similar debt 

instruments of comparable terms.

(t) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business 

Combinations” (SFAS 141R), which establishes principles and 

requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its 

fi nancial statements the identifi able assets acquired, the liabilities 

assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in an acquiree, including 

the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in a busi-

ness combination. Th e requirements of SFAS 141R are eff ective 

for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 

after the beginning of the fi rst annual reporting period beginning 

on or after December 15, 2008, with the exception of the account-

ing for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax 

contingencies. SFAS 141R amends SFAS No. 109, “Accounting 

for Income Taxes” (SFAS 109) such that adjustments made to 

valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contin-

gencies associated with acquisitions that closed prior to the eff ec-

tive date of SFAS 141R would also apply the provisions of SFAS 

141R. Early adoption was not permitted. Upon adoption, SFAS 

141R will not have a signifi cant impact on our fi nancial position 

and results of operations, however, any business combination 

entered into after the adoption may signifi cantly impact our con-

solidated results of operations and fi nancial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non-

controlling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an 

amendment of ARB No. 51” (SFAS 160). SFAS 160 amends 

ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the 

noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolida-

tion of a subsidiary. It clarifi es that a noncontrolling interest in 

a subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to as minority interest, 

is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should 

be reported as equity in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

Among other requirements, this statement requires consolidated 

net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts 

attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. 

It also requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated income 

statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable 

to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. Th e requirements 

of SFAS 160 are eff ective for fi scal years, and interim periods within 

those fi scal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We do 

not expect SFAS 160 to have a material eff ect on our consolidated 

results of operations and fi nancial condition.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures 

about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, an amend-

ment of FASB Statement No. 133” (SFAS 161). Th is statement 

is intended to improve transparency in fi nancial reporting by 

requiring enhanced disclosures of an entity’s derivative instru-

ments and hedging activities and their eff ects on the entity’s 
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fi nancial position, fi nancial performance and cash fl ows. 

SFAS 161 applies to all derivative instruments within the scope 

of SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and 

Hedging Activities” (SFAS 133), as well as related hedged items, 

bifurcated derivatives and nonderivative instruments that are 

designated and qualify as hedging instruments. Entities with 

instruments subject to SFAS 161 must provide more robust 

qualitative disclosures and expanded quantitative disclosures. 

SFAS 161 is eff ective prospectively for fi nancial statements 

issued for fi scal years and interim periods beginning after Novem-

ber 15, 2008, with early application permitted. We do not expect 

SFAS 161 to have a material eff ect on our consolidated results 

of operations and fi nancial condition.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1, 

“Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefi t Plan 

Assets.” Th is FSP amends SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), 

“Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretire-

ment Benefi ts,” to provide guidance on an employer’s disclosures 

about plan assets of a defi ned benefi t pension or other postretire-

ment plan including investment policies and strategies, major 

categories of plan assets, inputs and valuation techniques used to 

measure the fair value of plan assets and signifi cant concentra-

tions of risk within plan assets. Th is FSP is eff ective for fi scal 

years ending after December 15, 2009, with earlier application 

permitted. Upon initial application, the provisions of this FSP 

are not required for earlier periods that are presented for com-

parative purposes. We are currently evaluating the disclosure 

requirements of this new FSP, however its adoption will not 

have an impact on our consolidated results of operations and 

fi nancial condition.

3.  FA IR VA LU E MEASUR EMENTS

Th e following table summarizes the fi nancial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets:

 December 31,

 2008 2007

Assets (liabilities) in millions   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

Available for sale investments   $176.2 $153.3 $22.8 $352.3 $420.8

Trading investments   — — 44.1 44.1 —

Auction rate securities right   — — 6.2 6.2 —

Suntech warrant   — — 13.8 13.8 306.3

Currency forward contracts   1.6 — — 1.6 0.1

      $177.8 $153.3 $86.9 $418.0 $727.2

During November 2008, we accepted an off er by our investment broker to receive an ARS Right that would substantially ensure 

recovery to par of our ARS between June 2010 and July 2012. At the same time, we reclassifi ed the ARS from the available-for-sale 

category to trading. We have elected the fair value option for the ARS Right because its value is highly correlated to the value of the ARS, 

which are also marked to market. We have recorded the ARS Right to other assets and non-operating income, other. Th e ARS Right 

is the only item eligible for the fair value option in other assets. As of December 31, 2008, the ARS Right had a value of $6.2 million, 

which substantially off set the mark-to-market adjustment of our outstanding ARS of $7.3 million. To determine the fair value of the 

ARS Right, we performed a Level 3 valuation using a discounted cash fl ow model, which involves making assumptions about expected 

future cash fl ows based on estimates of current market interest rates considering credit quality, duration, and likelihood of redemption.

Suntech warrant consists of a fully vested, non-forfeitable warrant to purchase common shares of Suntech, a customer, which was 

received at the time that MEMC signed a long-term supply agreement with Suntech. We used a lattice model to determine the fair 

value of the Suntech warrant. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of the warrant requires the 

making of estimates and assumptions, including Suntech’s stock price volatility, interest rate, dividends, marketability and expected 

return requirements. Th e Suntech warrant is considered a derivative and is accounted for under SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities” and, accordingly, changes in the value of the warrant are recorded in non-operating (income) 

expense. Th e notional amount of the warrant was $205.8 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.
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We acquired less than 10% of the common stock of a customer 

(Gintech) at the same time as the execution of a long-term supply 

agreement with that customer. Th is investment was accounted 

for under the cost method of accounting until December 2008 

when the restriction on sale became less than one year. Subse-

quently, this investment is accounted for at fair value and is 

classifi ed as a long-term available-for-sale investment. At 

December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of the common 

stock was $12.4 million and it had an estimated fair value of 

$54.1 million.

Th e carrying amount of our outstanding long-term debt at 

December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $32.2 million and $30.9 million, 

respectively. Th e estimated fair value of that debt was $31.2 million 

and $31.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Th e fair value of our currency forward contracts is measured by 

the amount that would have been paid to liquidate and repurchase 

all open contracts and was $1.6 million and $0.1 million at Decem-

ber 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Th e notional amount of our 

currency forward contracts was $60.9 million and $41.7 million as 

of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Th e following table summarizes changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the year ended December 31, 2008:

 Fair Value Measurements Using Signifi cant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

      Available for Sale Trading Auction Rate Suntech

In millions   Investments  Investments  Securities Right  Warrant Total

Balance at December 31, 2007   $ 26.8 $   — $ — $ 306.3 $ 333.1

Total unrealized gains (losses):

 Included in earnings   (10.2) (7.3) 6.2 (292.5) (303.8)
 Included in other comprehensive income, net   (0.5) — — — (0.5)
Sales, redemptions and maturities   (12.5) — — — (12.5)
Transfers to Level 3, net   19.2 51.4 — — 70.6
Balance at December 31, 2008   $ 22.8 $ 44.1 $6.2 $  13.8 $  86.9

Valuations of our Level 3 trading and available for sale fi nancial instruments were performed using a discounted cash fl ow model 

which involved making assumptions about expected future cash fl ows based on estimates of current market interest rates. Our models 

include estimates of market data, including yields or spreads of trading instruments that are believed to be similar or comparable, when 

available, and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable on nonobservable inputs. Such assumptions include the tax status (taxable 

vs. tax-exempt), type of security (type of issuer, collateralization, subordination, etc.), credit quality, duration, likelihood of redemption, 

insurance coverage and degree of liquidity in the current credit markets.

During 2007 and 2008, we executed two wafer agreements in which the terms of any additional consideration provided by the customers 

have not been fi nalized. If and when the terms are fi nalized, the estimated fair value of the additional consideration, if determinable and 

material will be recorded to deferred revenue and recognized to income on a pro-rata basis as wafers are shipped under the agreements.

4 .  ACCU M U L ATED OTHER COMPR EHENSIV E LOSS INCOME

Th e components of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax, were as follows:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions         2008 2007

Accumulated net translation adjustment         $ 21.9 $36.1

Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities        (43.2) (4.3)

Net actuarial loss, prior service credit, and transition obligation (net of $17.8 and $0.3 tax in 2008 and 2007, respectively) (34.3) (2.0)

Total accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income        $(55.6) $29.8
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5. INV EST MENTS

Short and long-term investments measured and recorded at fair value consist of the following:

 As of December 31, 2008 As of December 31, 2007

     Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized   Gross Unrealized

     Gain/(Loss)  Gain/(Loss) in Other   Loss in Other

     Recorded in  Comprehensive   Comprehensive

Dollars in millions Cost  Earnings 1 Income 2 Fair Value  Cost  Income (1) Fair Value

Items measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

 Trading securities:

  Auction rate securities $ 51.4 $ (7.3) $   — $ 44.1 $   — $  — $   —

 Available for sale securities:

  Fixed income funds 200.0 2.0 (33.2) 168.8 — — —

  Corporate debt securities 94.6 (8.3) (2.3) 84.0 135.2 (1.0) 134.2

  Asset-backed securities 46.4 (1.2) (4.6) 40.6 85.8 (1.0) 84.8

  Mortgage-backed securities 47.5 (5.0) (7.6) 34.9 82.8 (2.3) 80.5

  Auction rate securities — — — — 111.7 — 111.7

  Benefi ciary certifi cates bond fund 7.1 — 0.3 7.4 9.6 — 9.6

  Equity investment 3 12.4 — 4.2 16.6 — — —

    408.0 (12.5) (43.2) 352.3 425.1 (4.3) 420.8

   Total $459.4 $(19.8) $(43.2) $396.4 $425.1 $(4.3) $420.8

 As of December 31,

    2008 2007

    Carrying Value Carrying Value

Items measured at fair value on a recurring basis $396.4 $420.8

Time deposits 36.4 36.3

Equity investments at cost 3 0.3 12.7

Total investments 433.1 469.8

Less: short-term investments 148.4 457.1

Non-current investments $284.7 $ 12.7

1 Gross unrealized gains/(losses) were recorded to non-operating (income) expense in the consolidated statements of income.

2  Th e fair value of available for sale investments with unrealized loss positions was $320.9 million and $299.5 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

We evaluated the nature of these investments and have recorded other-than-temporary impairments based on current and expected future market conditions, 

the duration of the impairments, the extent to which fair value is less than cost, the fi nancial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and our ability to hold 

the security for a period of time suffi  cient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

3  Equity investments in 2007 included a $12.4 million investment of less than 10% of the common stock of Gintech, which was acquired at the same time as the 

execution of a long-term supply agreement with that customer. Th is investment was accounted for under the cost method of accounting until December 2008 when 

the restriction on sale became less than one year. Subsequently, this investment is accounted for at fair value and is classifi ed as a long-term available-for-sale 

investment. Th e fair value of the investment was estimated based on the closing stock price of Gintech on December 31, 2008. In 2007, the fair value of the investment 

for disclosure purposes was estimated based on the closing stock price on December 31, 2007, reduced by the estimated value of a regulatory restriction on sale. 

Th e value of the regulatory restriction on sale was estimated using a Black Scholes model considering the stock price volatility, expected term, dividend yield and 

risk-free interest rate.
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Our investments in asset-backed securities and mortgage backed 

securities have all been in continuous loss positions for over twelve 

months as of December 31, 2008. Corporate debt securities of 

$76.6 million have been in continuous loss positions for over twelve 

months. Our remaining investments are in gain positions or have 

been in loss positions for less than twelve months.

There were no realized gains or losses on available for sale  

securities in 2008, 2007 or 2006.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $44.1 million of investments 

related to auction rate securities (ARS), net of other than tempo-

rary impairments of $7.3 million. These securities are classified as 

trading securities for accounting purposes and all changes in fair 

value are recorded to non-operating (income) expense, other. The 

ARS are comprised of interest bearing state sponsored student 

loan revenue bonds and municipal bonds with varying maturity 

periods and typically provide short-term liquidity via an auction 

process that also resets the applicable interest rate at predeter-

mined calendar intervals (typically every 7, 28 or 35 days). In the 

event of an auction failing to settle on its respective settlement 

date, these funds would remain invested at a “failed” interest rate 

which is typically higher than the previous market rate until the 

next successful auction. For those auctions that fail to settle, we 

will not be able to access those funds until the next successful 

auction, another buyer is found outside of the auction process,  

the issuer redeems the security or the security matures. As of 

December 31, 2007, none of our $111.7 million of ARS had 

failed. Commencing in mid-February 2008, the tightening credit 

markets and a lesser degree of liquidity in the overall marketplace 

caused auctions on our ARS to fail. During 2008, we liquidated 

approximately $60.3 million of ARS. As of December 31, 2008, 

all remaining ARS were classified as non-current assets due to 

unsuccessful auctions coupled with current conditions in the  

general debt markets which have created uncertainty as to when 

successful auctions will be reestablished. We do not anticipate having 

to sell these securities in order to operate our business. As discussed 

in Note 3, we received an ARS Right that guaranties full redemption 

of the ARS at par by 2012. Upon receipt of that right, we reclassified 

the ARS from the available for sale category to trading and recorded 

a loss of $3.4 million at the time of reclassification.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $159.5 million in a portfolio 

comprised of corporate bonds and asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities, net of temporary impairments of $14.5 million 

and other than temporary impairments of $14.5 million. As of 

December 31, 2007, we held $299.5 million of investments, net 

of temporary impairments of $4.3 million. A majority of these 

investments maintain a floating interest rate based on a range  

of spreads to the one and three month LIBOR rate. While we 

believe the decline in fair value related to the temporary impair-

ments to be directly attributable to the current global credit  

conditions, we believe the time to reach the original carrying 

value for certain of these investments to be greater than 12 months. 

Accordingly, we have classified $55.0 million of those investments 

as non-current assets. We do not anticipate having to sell these 

securities in order to operate our business.

As of December 31, 2008, we held $168.8 million in fixed 

income funds, net of temporary impairments of $33.2 million, 

with the intent of holding them for a period exceeding 12 months.

Contractual maturities of our available for sale debt securities 

were as follows:

Dollars in millions  Cost Fair Value

As of December 31, 2008
Due in one year or less  $ 59.0 $ 57.1
Due after one year through five years  35.6 26.9
No single maturity date 1  93.9 75.5
     $188.5 $159.5
1  Securities with no single maturity date include mortgage- and asset-backed  

securities which have been classified as current or non-current based on  

estimated forecasted cash flows.

6 .  CR EDIT CONCENTR AT ION

Our customers include semiconductor device and solar cell man-

ufacturers and are located in various geographic regions including 

North America, Europe and the Asia Pacific region. Our cus-

tomers are generally well capitalized, and the concentration of 

credit risk is considered minimal. Sales to specific customers 

exceeding 10% of consolidated net sales for the years ended 

December 31 were as follows:

    2008 2007 2006

Customer A 14.6% 1 1

Customer B 13.0% 13.1% 1

Customer C 10.4% 1 1

Customer D 1 10.2% 1

1 Less than 10% of consolidated net sales.
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7. INV ENTOR IES

Inventories consist of the following:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Raw materials and supplies  $18.8 $16.2

Goods in process  6.4 6.1

Finished goods  56.1 14.1

     $81.3 $36.4

At December 31, 2008, we had $15.1 million of inventory held 

on consignment, compared to $8.4 million at December 31, 2007.

8 .  PROPERT Y, PL A NT A ND EQU IPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Land   $    6.2 $  6.0

Buildings and improvements  284.8 133.3

Machinery and equipment  1,198.3 795.0

     1,489.3 934.3

Less accumulated depreciation  (478.4) (377.0)

     1,010.9 557.3

Construction in progress  30.3 276.7

     $1,041.2 $834.0

9.  DEBT

We have short-term committed loan agreements renewable 

annually of approximately $33.2 million at December 31, 2008, 

of which there were no short-term borrowings outstanding at 

December 31, 2008 and 2007. Of the $33.2 million committed 

short-term loan agreements, $10.8 million is unavailable because 

it relates to the issuance of third party letters of credit. Interest 

rates are negotiated at the time of the borrowings.

Long-term debt consists of the following:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Long-term notes with interest payable 

 semi-annually at rates ranging from 2.1% 

 to 2.9%, due in 2009 through 2017  $32.2 $30.9

Less current portion  (6.1) (5.3)

     $26.1 $25.6

On July 21, 2005, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit 

Agreement with National City Bank of the Midwest (National 

City Bank), US Bank National Association, and such other lend-

ing institutions as may from time to time become lenders (the 

National City Agreement). Th e National City Agreement was 

amended on December 20, 2006 to reduce the commitment fee 

and the interest spread on loans bearing interest at a rate determined 

by reference to the LIBOR rate. Additionally, our obligations and 

the guaranty obligations of our subsidiaries are no longer secured 

by a pledge of the capital stock of certain of our domestic and 

foreign subsidiaries. Th e National City Agreement provides for a 

$200.0 million revolving credit facility and has a term of fi ve years. 

Interest on borrowings under the National City Agreement will 

be payable based on the Company’s election at LIBOR plus an 

applicable margin (currently 0.34%) or at a defi ned prime rate 

plus an applicable margin (currently 0.00%). Th e National City 

Agreement also provides for us to pay various fees, including a 

commitment fee (currently 0.08%) on the lenders’ commitments. 

Th e National City Agreement contains covenants typical for 

credit arrangements of comparable size, such as minimum earn-

ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and an 

interest coverage ratio. Our obligations under the National City 

Agreement are guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries. We are 

currently in compliance with all debt covenants.

Long-term debt at December 31, 2008 totaling $32.2 million 

owed to a bank by our Japanese subsidiary is guaranteed by us and 

is secured by the land, buildings and machinery and equipment of 

our Japanese subsidiary. Th ese loans mature in years ranging from 

2009 to 2017. Such guarantees would require us to satisfy the loan 

obligations in the event that the Japanese subsidiary failed to pay 

such debt in accordance with its stated terms.

We have long-term committed loan agreements of approximately 

$270.4 million at December 31, 2008, of which $32.2 million is 

outstanding. Of the $270.4 million committed long-term loan 

agreements, which expire beginning 2009 and ending 2017, 

$114.9 million is unavailable because it relates to the issuance

of third party letters of credit. We pay commitment fees of up 

to 0.08 percent on the committed loan agreements.
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Th e aggregate amounts of long-term debt maturing after 

December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Dollars in millions

2009    $ 6.1

2010    4.3

2011    3.2

2012    3.2

2013    3.2

Th ereafter   12.2

      $32.2

10 .  STOCK HOLDER S’ EQU IT Y

Preferred Stock
We have 50.0 million authorized shares of $.01 par value preferred 

stock and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 

2008 and 2007. Th e Board of Directors is authorized, without 

further action by the stockholders, to issue any or all of the pre-

ferred stock.

Common Stock
Holders of our $.01 par value common stock are entitled to one 

vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of 

stockholders. Subject to the rights of any holders of preferred 

stock, holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably 

such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors. In 

the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of 

our common stock are entitled to share ratably in the distribution 

of all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to 

the rights of any holders of preferred stock. Th e declaration and 

payment of future dividends on our common stock, if any, will 

be at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors and is subject 

to restrictions as contained in the National City Agreement. Th ere 

were no dividends declared or paid during the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

On May 16, 2007, our Board of Directors approved a $500.0 mil-

lion stock repurchase program. On July 22, 2008, an additional 

$500 million was approved, increasing the size of the program 

to $1 billion. Th e stock repurchase program allows MEMC to 

purchase common stock from time to time on the open market 

or through privately negotiated transactions using available cash. 

Th e specifi c timing and amount of repurchases will vary based 

on market conditions and other factors and may be modifi ed, 

extended or terminated by the Board of Directors at any time. 

In 2008 and 2007, we repurchased 6.2 million and 1.8 million 

shares of our common stock at a total cost of $321.0 million and 

$111.2 million, respectively. From inception through December 31, 

2008, we have repurchased 8.0 million shares at a total cost of 

$432.2 million.

Stock-Based Compensation
We have equity incentive plans that provide for the award of 

non-qualifi ed stock options, restricted stock, performance shares, 

and restricted stock units to employees, non-employee directors, 

and consultants. We issue new shares to satisfy stock option exer-

cises. As of December 31, 2008, there were 11.5 million shares 

authorized for future grant under these plans. Options to employ-

ees are generally granted upon hire and annually or semi-annually, 

usually with four-year ratable vesting, although certain grants 

have three, four or fi ve-year cliff  vesting. No option has a term of 

more than 10 years. Th e exercise price of stock options granted 

has historically equaled the market price on the date of the grant. 

One million options were granted in 2006 with a market condi-

tion requiring that, at the end of a four-year term, if MEMC’s 

common stock price outperformed the S&P 500 market index by 

a specifi ed amount over that four-year period, the options would 

vest. Th ese options were forfeited during December 2008, result-

ing in a reversal of related stock option expense recognized in 

previous periods of approximately $10.5 million for the quarter 

ended December 31, 2008.
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Th e following table presents information regarding outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2008 and changes during the year 

then ended with regard to stock options:

  Weighted-Average  Aggregate Intrinsic  Average Remaining

 Shares  Exercise Price  Value (in millions)  Contractual Life

Beginning of year 8,643,597 $30.72

Granted 1,017,045 64.72

Exercised (1,336,244) 14.89

Forfeited (2,846,793) 32.82

Expired (173,822) 25.16

End of year 5,303,783 $40.29 $3.7 8 years

Options exercisable at year-end 1,769,289 $26.53 $3.3 7 years

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Th e aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the 

total pre-tax intrinsic value (the diff erence between our closing 

stock price on the last trading day of 2008 and the exercise price, 

multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would 

have been received by the option holders had all option holders 

exercised their options on December 31, 2008. Th is amount 

changes based on the fair market value of our stock. Th e total 

intrinsic value of options exercised was $72.7 million, $159.9 mil-

lion and $46.0 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Cash received from option exercises under our option plans was 

$19.9 million, $44.2 million and $17.1 million and the actual tax 

benefi t realized for the tax deductions from option exercises was 

$22.7 million, $40.3 million and $14.8 million for 2008, 2007 

and 2006, respectively.

Our weighted-average assumptions are as follows:

 Black-Scholes

    2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate 2.5% 4.6% 4.7%

Expected stock price volatility 50.9% 50.5% 64.9%

Expected term until exercise (years) 4 4 4

Expected dividends 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Th e weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options 

granted was $27.81, $25.34 and $18.47 for 2008, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. As of December 31, 2008, $42.4 million of total 

unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options is expected 

to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years.

Restricted stock units represent the right to receive a share of 

MEMC stock at a designated time in the future, provided the 

stock unit is vested at the time. Restricted stock units granted to 

non-employee directors generally vest over a two-year period 

from the grant date. Restricted stock units granted to employees 

usually have three, four or fi ve year cliff  vesting, or four-year 

ratable vesting and certain grants are subject to performance con-

ditions established at the time of grant. Recipients of restricted 

stock units do not pay any cash consideration for the restricted 

stock units or the underlying shares, and do not have the right to 

vote or have any other rights of a shareholder until such time as 

the underlying shares of stock are distributed.

Th e following table presents information regarding outstanding 

restricted stock units as of December 31, 2008 and changes dur-

ing the year then ended:

     Aggregate Average

    Restricted Intrinsic Remaining

    Stock Value  Contractual

    Units (in millions) Life

Beginning of year 226,038

Granted 315,514

Converted (26,063)

Forfeited (47,600)

End of year 467,889 $6.7 3 years

At December 31, 2008, there were no restricted stock units 

which were convertible. As of December 31, 2008, $9.7 million of 

total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock 

units is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period 

of approximately 3.0 years. Th e weighted-average fair value of 

restricted stock units on the date of grant was $63.53, $48.91 and 

$39.95 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We recorded com-

pensation expense related to restricted stock units of $5.0 million, 

$1.3 million and $0.6 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, we 

recognized $19.0 million, $40.0 million and $10.5 million of 

excess tax benefi ts from share-based payment arrangements as 

a cash infl ow in fi nancing activities and an operating outfl ow 

for income taxes payable.

Stock-based compensation expense recorded for the years 

ended December 31 was allocated as follows:

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Cost of goods sold $ 6.0 $ 4.7 $ 4.3

Marketing and administration 19.4 25.1 13.1

Research and development 2.9 1.4 1.4

Stock-based employee 

 compensation before 

 related tax eff ects 28.3 31.2 18.8

Less: Income tax benefi t 10.1 11.1 6.9

Total stock-based compensation 

 expense, net of related tax eff ects $18.2 $20.1 $11.9

Th e amount of stock-based compensation cost capitalized into 

inventory at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $0.3 million and 

$0.1 million.

Warrants
In November 2001, TPG acquired a benefi cial ownership of 

approximately 72% of the outstanding stock of MEMC. Pursuant 

to the 2001 TPG Restructuring Agreement, TPG received 

warrants to purchase 16.7 million shares of our common stock. 

We recorded the warrants at their aggregate fair market value of 

less than one dollar. Th e warrants were exercisable at an exercise 

price of $3.00 per share of common stock. In 2005, TPG exercised 

10.0 million warrants on a cashless basis, resulting in the retirement 

of 2.0 million additional warrants held by TPG which were used as 

payment for the exercise price. In 2007, all remaining warrants 

to purchase our common stock were exercised on a cashless basis, 

resulting in the issuance of approximately 4.5 million shares of 

our common stock.

11.  INCOME PER SH A R E

In 2008, 2007 and 2006, basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) were calculated as follows:

    2008 2007 2006

In millions, except per share amounts  Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

EPS numerator:

Net income allocable to common stockholders  $387.4 $387.4 $826.2 $826.2 $369.3 $369.3

EPS denominator:

Weighted-average shares outstanding  226.9 226.9 225.6 225.6 222.1 222.1

Stock options and restricted stock units  — 1.7 — 3.1 — 3.3

Warrants  — — — 3.6 — 4.3

Total shares  226.9 228.6 225.6 232.3 222.1 229.7

Earnings per share  $ 1.71 $ 1.69 $ 3.66 $ 3.56 $ 1.66 $ 1.61

In 2008, 2007, and 2006, options and restricted stock units to purchase 3.5 million, 1.0 million and 1.9 million shares, respectively, 

of MEMC stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because the eff ect was antidilutive.
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12. INCOME TA X ES

Income before income tax expense and minority interests consists 

of the following:

 For the year ended

 December 31,

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

U.S.   $215.9 $  465.5 $321.9

Foreign 369.1 646.3 268.6

    $585.0 $1,111.8 $590.5

Income tax expense (benefi t) consists of the following:

Dollars in millions Current Deferred Total

Year ended December 31, 2008:
 U.S. federal $ 45.5 $ 44.0 $ 89.5
 State and local (2.3) 1.0 (1.3)
 Foreign 100.4 6.8 107.2
    $143.6 $51.8 $195.4
Year ended December 31, 2007:

 U.S. federal $150.9 $ 2.7 $153.6

 State and local (0.6) 0.7 0.1

 Foreign 113.6 14.9 128.5

    $263.9 $18.3 $282.2

Year ended December 31, 2006:

 U.S. federal $ 84.7 $28.0 $112.7

 State and local 5.8 1.9 7.7

 Foreign 80.5 13.9 94.4

    $171.0 $43.8 $214.8

Effective Tax Rate. Income tax expense (benefi t) diff ered from 

the amounts computed by applying the U.S. Federal income tax 

rate of 35% to income before income taxes, equity in loss of joint 

venture and minority interests as a result of the following:

 For the year ended

 December 31,

    2008 2007 2006

Income tax at federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase (reduction) in income taxes:

 Eff ect of foreign operations 

  and repatriation 2.1 (8.4) (0.2)

 State income taxes, net of 

  federal benefi t 0.4 0.5 0.9

 Settlements with taxing authorities (3.7) — —

 Other, net (0.4) (1.7) 0.7

 Eff ective tax rate 33.4% 25.4% 36.4%

Th e “Eff ect of foreign operations and repatriation” includes the 

net reduced taxation of foreign profi ts from combining jurisdictions 

with rates above and below the U.S. federal statutory rate and the 

impact of withholding taxes. For 2008, the net increase is a result 

of the non-taxable loss for the mark-to-market adjustment associ-

ated with the Suntech warrant. Th e 2007 amount includes a ben-

efi t of $23.4 million associated with the U.S. foreign tax credit 

off set by an increase in expense of $29.1 million related to divi-

dends and foreign withholding taxes. Additionally, a benefi t of 

$77.3 million was recognized in relation to a non-taxable gain on 

warrant income. Th e 2006 amount includes a benefi t of $16.9 mil-

lion associated with the U.S. foreign tax credit off set by an 

increase in expense of $15.8 million related to dividends and for-

eign withholding taxes.

Certain of our Asian subsidiaries have been granted a conces-

sionary tax rate of between 0% and 10% on all qualifying income 

for a fi ve year period based on investments in certain machinery 

and equipment and other development and expansion activities, 

resulting in a tax benefi t for 2008 of approximately $37.0 million. 

Under the awards, the income tax rate for qualifying income will 

be taxed at an incentive tax rate lower than the corporate tax rate. 

Th e last of these incentives will expire in 2012.
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Uncertain Tax Positions. Unrecognized tax benefi ts are tax 

benefi ts claimed in our tax returns that do not meet the recogni-

tion and measurement standards outlined in FIN 48. As a result 

of the adoption of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, we recorded an 

increase in retained earnings and a decrease in other long-term 

liabilities of $0.5 million for uncertain tax positions. Th e total 

amount of unrecognized tax benefi ts, net of federal, state and 

local deductions, at the date of adoption was $49.2 million, all of 

which would favorably aff ect our eff ective tax rate if recognized. 

Uncertain tax benefi ts, including accrued interest and penalties, 

are included as a component of other long-term liabilities because 

we do not anticipate that settlement of the liabilities will require 

payment of cash within the next twelve months. At December 31, 

2008 and 2007, we had $55.9 million and $95.7 million, respec-

tively, of unrecognized tax benefi ts, net of federal, state and local 

deductions, associated with open tax years for which we are 

subject to audit in various federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. 

All of our unrecognized tax benefi ts at December 31, 2008 and 

2007 would favorably aff ect our eff ective tax rate if recognized. 

Th e change to the reserve in 2008 is due to a decrease in the reserve 

of $44.0 million including related interest, reducing income tax 

expense by $29.5 million and increasing income taxes payable by 

$14.5 million, due to the closure of the Internal Revenue Service 

examination in the United States of the 2004 and 2005 audit 

years, as well as earnings generated by foreign subsidiaries whose 

earnings are being permanently reinvested and taxed at lower 

rates. Th e change to the reserve during 2007 was related to the 

deductibility of interest on senior subordinated notes stemming 

from the partial acquisition of common shares by TPG and sub-

sequent debt restructuring, refi nements of our positions related 

to the TPG acquisition from 2001 and other worldwide tax items. 

Th e entire amount would favorably aff ect our eff ective tax rate 

if recognized. We are subject to examination in various jurisdic-

tions for the 2002 through 2007 tax years.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross 

unrecognized tax benefi ts is as follows:

 For the year ended

 December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Beginning of year  $ 97.1 $51.0

Additions based on tax positions 

 related to the current year  0.3 1.0

(Reductions) additions for tax positions 

 of prior years  (0.4) 45.1

Reductions related to settlements 

 with taxing authorities  (44.0) —

End of year  $ 53.0 $97.1

Th e accrual of interest begins in the fi rst reporting period 

that interest would begin to accrue under the applicable tax law. 

Penalties, when applicable, are accrued in the fi nancial reporting 

period in which the uncertain tax position is taken on a tax return. 

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax 

positions in income tax expense, which is consistent with our 

historical policy. During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 

2007 we recognized approximately $2.2 million and $3.2 million, 

respectively, in interest and penalties and had approximately 

$2.7 million and $3.7 million accrued at December 31, 2008 and 

2007, respectively, for the payment of interest and penalties.

Deferred Taxes. Th e tax eff ects of the major items recorded as 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Deferred tax assets:

 Inventories  $ 5.1 $  1.6

 Expense accruals  17.6 21.3

 Property, plant and equipment  23.0 51.3

 Pension, medical and other employee benefi ts 11.7 17.0

 Net operating loss carryforwards — 

  state and foreign  2.3 3.3

 Capitalized R&D  6.8 7.5

 Other  4.4 0.1

   Total deferred tax assets  70.9 102.1

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Other  (0.2) (0.8)

   Total deferred tax liabilities  (0.2) (0.8)

   Net deferred tax assets  $70.7 $101.3
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Our deferred tax assets and liabilities, netted by taxing  

location, are in the following captions in the Consolidated  

Balance Sheets:

 As of December 31,

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Current deferred tax assets, net  

 (recorded in prepaids and other  

 current assets)  $ 1.0 $ 12.0

Non-current deferred tax assets, net  69.7 89.3

     $70.7 $101.3

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had a $2.3 mil-

lion and $3.3 million deferred tax asset for state income tax loss 

and credit carryforwards. These carryforwards are scheduled to 

expire in 2026 if unused.

Federal and state income taxes have not been provided on  

accumulated but undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 

aggregating approximately $933.4 million and $945.8 million at 

December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, because such earnings 

have been permanently reinvested in the business. The determi-

nation of the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability 

related to our undistributed earnings is not practicable.

13.  EMPLOY EER EL ATED LI A BILIT IES

Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans
Prior to January 2, 2002, our defined benefit pension plan covered 

most U.S. employees. Benefits for this plan were based on years 

of service and qualifying compensation during the final years of 

employment. Effective January 2, 2002, we amended our defined 

benefit plan to discontinue future benefit accruals for certain par-

ticipants. In addition, effective January 2, 2002, no new partici-

pants will be added to the plan.

We also have a non-qualified plan under the Employee Retire-

ment Income Security Act of 1974. This plan provides benefits in 

addition to the defined benefit plan. Eligibility for participation 

in this plan requires coverage under the defined benefit plan and 

other specific circumstances. The non-qualified plan has also 

been amended to discontinue future benefit accruals.

Prior to January 1, 2002, our health care plan provided 

postretirement medical benefits to full-time U.S. employees who 

met minimum age and service requirements. The plan is contrib-

utory, with retiree contributions adjusted annually, and contains 

other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. 

Effective January 1, 2002, we amended our health care plan to 

discontinue eligibility for postretirement medical benefits for 

certain participants. In addition, effective January 2, 2002, no 

new participants will be eligible for postretirement medical 

benefits under the plan. During 2006, a negative plan amend-

ment was recorded related to the clarification of contributions to 

be paid by MEMC, resulting in the recording of approximately 

$11.6 million of unrecognized prior service credit. This credit 

will be amortized to income using the straight-line method over 

the remaining life expectancy of those participants.

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards  

No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension 

and Other Postretirement Plans” (“SFAS 158”) as of December 31, 

2006, except for the change in measurement date provisions, 

which was adopted as of December 31, 2008. SFAS 158 requires 

an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status 

of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or liability  

in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in 

that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through 

comprehensive income. As a result of the adoption of the recog-

nition provisions of SFAS 158 as of December 31, 2006, we 

reclassified $10.3 million from accrued liabilities to pension and 

post-employment liabilities because we had pension assets exceed-

ing the expected beneficiary payments in 2007. In addition, we 

reclassified $11.5 million of unrecognized prior service credit  

and net unrealized gains from the pension and post-employment 

liabilities to accumulated other comprehensive income, which 

reduced our recorded liabilities. SFAS 158 also requires an employer 

to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end 

statement of financial position. This requirement was effective and 

adopted as of December 31, 2008. As a result of the adoption, we 

recorded an adjustment to the 2008 beginning retained earnings 

of $0.8 million.
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Net periodic benefi t cost consists of the following:

 Year ended December 31, 

 Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

Dollars in millions  2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Service cost  $  3.0 $ 3.3 $ 3.5 $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.3

Interest cost  10.5 9.8 9.4 1.6 1.6 2.3

Expected return on plan assets  (12.6) (9.4) (8.5) — — —

Amortization of prior service cost  — — — (0.5) (0.5) —

Net actuarial loss (gain)  0.7 1.8 2.1 (1.4) (0.9) (0.6)

Settlement and curtailment charges  — 0.1 — — — —

 Net periodic benefi t cost  $  1.6 $ 5.6 $ 6.5 $(0.2) $ 0.3 $ 2.0

To determine pension and other postretirement and post-employment benefi t measurements for the plans, we used a measurement 

date of September 30 in 2007 and 2006 and as a result of the adoption of the SFAS 158 measurement date provision, a measurement 

date of December 31 was used in 2008. Net periodic benefi t cost above refl ects a twelve month period and does not include adjustments 

to the 2008 beginning retained earnings of $0.7 million and $0.1 million for the pension and post-employment plans, respectively, 

related to the adoption of SFAS 158.

Th e following is a table of actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefi t cost:

 Year ended December 31, 

 Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

     2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Weighted-average assumptions:

 Discount rate  6.39% 5.75% 5.50% 6.00% 5.75% 5.50%

 Expected return on plan assets  8.30% 8.00% 8.00% NA NA NA

 Rate of compensation increase  3.75% 3.75% 4.00% 3.75% 3.75% 4.00%

 Current medical cost trend rate  NA NA NA 8.00% 7.25% 7.25%

 Ultimate medical cost trend rate  NA NA NA 5.75% 5.25% 5.25%

 Year the rate reaches ultimate trend rate  NA NA NA 2014 2009 2008
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Th e following summarizes the change in benefi t obligation, change in plan assets, and funded status of the plans:

 Year ended December 31,

 Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

Dollars in millions  2008 2007  2008 2007

Change in benefi t obligation:

 Benefi t obligation at beginning of year  $173.9 $180.4  $ 28.7 $ 29.0

 Service cost  3.8 3.3  0.1 0.1

 Interest cost  13.0 9.8  2.0 1.7

 Plan participants’ contributions  — —  1.5 2.5

 Actuarial (gain) loss  4.4 (7.4)  (2.4) 1.1

 Gross benefi ts paid  (17.7) (12.6)  (3.9) (5.7)

 Settlements  — (0.2)  — —

 Currency exchange loss  1.9 0.6  — —

Benefi t obligation at end of year  $179.3 $173.9  $ 26.0 $ 28.7

Change in plan assets:

 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $137.1 $119.2  $   — $   —

 Actual return on plan assets  (31.2) 17.8  — —

 Employer contributions  73.9 12.9  2.4 3.2

 Plan participants’ contributions  — —  1.5 2.5

 Gross benefi ts paid  (17.7) (12.6)  (3.9) (5.7)

 Settlements  — (0.2)  — —

 Currency exchange loss  (0.1) —  — —

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $162.0 $137.1  $   — $   —

Net unfunded status  $ (17.3) $ (36.8)  $(26.0) $(28.7)

Contributions after measurement date  — 0.4  — 0.8

Net amount recognized  $ (17.3) $ (36.4)  $(26.0) $(27.9)

Amounts recognized in statement of fi nancial position:

 Long-term assets  $  6.0 $   —  $   — $   —

 Accrued liabilities, current  (0.8) (0.8)  (2.2) (2.9)

 Pension and post-employment liabilities  (22.5) (35.6)  (23.8) (25.0)

Net amount recognized  $ (17.3) $ (36.4)  $(26.0) $(27.9)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (before tax):

 Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

Year ended December 31,  2008 2007  2008 2007

Dollars in millions

 Net actuarial loss (gain)  $68.9 $18.8  $ (6.4) $ (5.5)

 Prior service (credit) cost  — —  (10.4) (11.1)

Net amount recognized  $68.9 $18.8  $(16.8) $(16.6)
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Th e estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated 

other comprehensive income into net periodic benefi t cost in 2009 

are as follows:

  Health Care 

Dollars in millions Pension Plans and Other Plans

Actuarial loss (gain) $5.1  $(1.8)

Prior service (credit) cost —  (0.5)

    $5.1  $(2.3)

Th e following is a table of the actuarial assumptions used to 

determine the benefi t obligation:

 Year ended December 31,

  Health Care 

 Pension Plans and Other Plans

    2008 2007 2008 2007

Weighted-average assumptions:

 Discount rate 6.32% 6.15% 6.20% 6.00%

 Rate of compensation increase 3.75% 3.75% 3.75% 3.75%

 Current medical cost trend rate NA NA NA 8.00%

 Ultimate medical cost trend rate NA NA NA 5.00%

 Year the rate reaches 

  ultimate trend rate NA NA NA 2013

Th e composition of our plans and age of our participants are 

such that, as of December 31, 2008, the medical cost trend rate 

no longer had an eff ect on the valuation of our health care plans.

Pension plan assets are invested primarily in marketable securi-

ties, including common stocks, bonds and interest-bearing 

deposits. Th e weighted-average allocation of pension benefi t plan 

assets at December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2007 was:

 2008 Actual Allocation

Asset Category Target Allocation 2008 2007

Equity securities 50–70% 52% 65%

Fixed income securities 35–55% 48% 31%

All other 0–10% — 4%

Total   100% 100%

Th e investment objectives of our pension plan assets are 

as follows:

•  To achieve a favorable relative return as compared 

with infl ation;

•  To achieve an above average total rate of return relative 

to capital markets;

•  Preservation of capital through a broad diversifi cation among 

asset classes which react, as nearly as possible, independently 

to varying economic and market circumstances; and

•  Long-term growth, with a degree of emphasis on stable 

growth, rather than short-term capital gains.

Our pension expense and pension liability are actuarially 

determined, and we use various actuarial assumptions, including 

the discount rate, rate of salary increase, and expected return on 

assets to estimate our pension costs and obligations. We determine 

the expected return on plan assets based on our pension plans’ 

intended long-term asset mix. Th e expected investment return 

assumption used for the pension plans refl ects what the plans can 

reasonably expect to earn over a long-term period considering 

plan target allocations. Th e expected return includes an infl ation 

assumption and adds real returns for the asset mix and a pre-

mium for active management, and subtracts expenses. While the 

assumed expected rate of return on plan assets in 2008 was 8.3%, 

the actual return experienced in our pension plan assets in the 

comparable period in 2008 was a loss of 17.7%. We consult with 

the plans’ actuaries to determine a discount rate assumption for 

pension and other postretirement and post-employment plans 

that refl ects the characteristics of our plans, including expected 

cash outfl ows from our plans, and utilize an analytical tool that 

incorporates the concept of a hypothetical yield curve.
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Leases and Purchase Obligations
We lease buildings, equipment and automobiles under operating leases. Rental expense was $5.7 million, $5.2 million and $5.3 million 

in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Th e total future commitment under operating leases as of December 31, 2008 was $13.4 million, 

of which $12.7 million is noncancellable. Our operating lease obligations as of December 31, 2008 were as follows:

 Payments Due By Period

Dollars in millions Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Th ereafter

Operating leases $13.4 $3.6 $2.5 $2.0 $1.6 $1.6 $2.1

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Our pension obligations are funded in accordance with 

provisions of Federal law. Contributions to our pension and post-

employment plans in 2008 totaled $73.9 million and $2.4 million, 

respectively. During 2008, we made a $63.5 million contribution 

to our U.S. pension plan in excess of our minimum funding 

requirements, which put the plan in an overfunded status. 

Amounts previously recorded to Pension and post employment 

liabilities related to the U.S. pension plan were reduced to zero 

and the overfunded status of $6.0 million at December 31, 2008 

was recorded to Other assets — long-term. Our foreign pension 

plans and health care and other plans continue to maintain an 

unfunded status as of December 31, 2008 and are recorded in 

Pension and post-employment liabilities. Except for our U.S. 

pension plan at the end of 2008, the accumulated benefi t obliga-

tion for each of our plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets 

in both 2007 and 2008. As of December 31, 2008, the accumu-

lated benefi t obligation for our U.S. pension plan was $148.5 

million and the fair value of plan assets was $158.9 million. 

We expect contributions to our pension and post-employment 

plans in 2009 to be approximately $1.1 million and $2.2 million, 

respectively.Th e projected benefi t obligation, accumulated benefi t 

obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with 

an accumulated benefi t obligation in excess of plan assets were 

as follows:

 Pension Plans

Dollars in millions  2008 2007

Projected benefi t obligation, end of year  $179.3 $173.9

Accumulated benefi t obligation, end of year $167.5 $163.4

Fair value of plan assets, end of year  $162.0 $137.1

We estimate that the future benefi ts payable for the pension 

and other postretirement plans are as follows:

     Health Care 

Dollars in millions Pension Plans and Other Plans

2009  $11.0 $2.2

2010  11.7 2.1

2011  12.3 2.0

2012  13.2 2.0

2013  14.6 2.0

2014–2018 78.9 9.5

Defi ned Contribution Plans
We sponsor a defi ned contribution plan under Section 401(k) of 

the Internal Revenue Code covering all U.S. salaried and hourly 

employees, and a defi ned contribution plan in Taiwan covering most 

salaried and hourly employees of our Taiwan subsidiary. Our costs 

included in our statements of income totaled $5.7 million, $5.6 mil-

lion and $5.4 million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Other Employee-Related Liabilities
Employees of our subsidiaries in Italy and Korea are covered by 

an end of service entitlement that provides payment upon termi-

nation of employment. Contributions to these plans are based on 

statutory requirements and are not actuarially determined. Th e 

accrued liability was $28.8 million at December 31, 2008 and 

$35.1 million at December 31, 2007, and is included in other 

long-term liabilities and accrued wages and salaries on our bal-

ance sheet. Th e accrued liability is based on the vested benefi ts to 

which the employee is entitled assuming employee termination 

at the measurement date.
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We maintain a long-term agreement with a supplier in connec-

tion with the purchase of certain raw materials. Our minimum 

required annual purchase under this agreement was $45.3 million 

in 2008 and is $48.6 million in each of the years from 2009 

through 2018. During 2008 a $13.7 million charge was recorded 

to cost of goods sold related to the estimated shortfall to our 

annual purchase obligation associated with a take or pay agreement 

for raw material supply to our Pasadena facility.

Indemnifi cation
We have agreed to indemnify some of our customers against 

claims of infringement of the intellectual property rights of others 

in our sales contracts with these customers. Historically, we have 

not paid any claims under these indemnifi cation obligations and 

we do not have any pending indemnifi cation claims as of Decem-

ber 31, 2008.

Legal Proceedings
We are involved in various legal proceedings which arise in the 

ordinary course of business. Although it is not possible to predict 

the outcome of these matters, we believe that the ultimate outcome 

of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not 

have a material adverse eff ect on our fi nancial position, cash fl ows 

or results of operations. In April 2008, we reached net favorable 

settlements in certain outstanding legal proceedings resulting in 

an increase to operating income of approximately $4.3 million 

for the year.

S.O.I.TEC Silicon on Insulator Technologies S.A. vs. MEMC 

Electronic Materials, Inc.

On May 19, 2008, Soitec and Commissariat A L’Energie Atomique 

(“CEA”) fi led a complaint for patent infringement against MEMC 

in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware (Civil Action 

No. 08-292) alleging infringement, including willful infringement, 

by MEMC of three U.S. patents related to silicon-on-insulator 

(SOI) technology, and requested damages and an injunction pre-

venting further infringement of the three patents listed in Soitec’s 

complaint. On July 9, 2008, MEMC fi led a motion to dismiss 

the complaint, or in the alternative, for a more defi nite statement. 

On February 20, 2009, the district court denied our motion to 

dismiss, and as a result, our answer is due in early March 2009. 

Although the case is still in the initial pleading stage, we believe 

that Soitec’s suit against us alleging infringement of the three 

patents named in the complaint has no merit, and we are asserting 

a vigorous defense against these claims. We do not believe that 

this case, should it be decided against MEMC, in whole or in 

part, will have a material adverse eff ect on us. Due to uncertainty 

regarding the litigation process, the outcome of these matters are 

unpredictable and the results of these cases could be unfavorable 

for MEMC.

Semi-Materials Co., Ltd. vs. MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. 

and MEMC Pasadena, Inc.

On September 28, 2006, Semi-Materials Co., Ltd. (“Semi-

Materials”) fi led a complaint against MEMC in the U.S. District 

Court for the Eastern District of Missouri (Case No. 4:06-CV-

01426-FRB) alleging breach of contract, unjust enrichment, 

fraud, and conversion, and seeking specifi c performance, all 

related to a series of purchase orders for chunk polysilicon and 

polysilicon solar ingot. MEMC fi led its answer in the case in 

December 2006. On MEMC’s motion, the Court dismissed 

Semi-Materials’ conversion claim. 

 Th e parties entered into settlement discussions for this case in 

November 2007 and December 2007. Semi-Materials claims that 

a binding settlement was reached as a result of those late 2007 dis-

cussions. MEMC denies Semi-Materials’ allegation that a bind-

ing settlement was reached. In January 2008, Semi-Materials 

moved the trial court to enforce the alleged settlement terms. On 

March 17, 2008, the trial court sustained Semi-Materials’ motion 

and found that binding settlement terms had been reached as a 

result of the late 2007 negotiations between Semi-Materials and 

MEMC. Th is decision was immediately appealed by MEMC to 

the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, and 

enforcement of the trial court’s order was stayed pending that 

appeal. Th e Eighth Circuit heard oral argument on September 26, 

2008. Just prior to the September 26 oral argument, Semi-Materi-

als informed MEMC and the Eighth Circuit that Semi-Materials 

no longer sought enforcement of the alleged settlement agreement 

(although Semi-Materials still claims that a binding settlement 

was reached in late 2007). Semi-Materials instead now requests 

that the Eighth Circuit vacate the trial court’s March 2008 order 

enforcing the alleged settlement agreement and remand the case 

back to the trial court for further proceedings. As of February 24, 

2009, the Eighth Circuit had not issued a decision in the appeal.

 On March 31, 2008, Semi-Materials and its affi  liate SMC 

Shanghai (“SMC”) fi led two additional lawsuits against MEMC, 
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one in the United States District Court for the Southern District 
of Texas (Case No. 4:08-CV-00991) (the “Texas Action”) and 
another in the United States District Court for the Eastern District 
of Missouri (Case No. 4:08-CV-00434-JCH) (the “Missouri 
Action”). In both cases, SMC alleges that: (i) MEMC Pasadena, 
Inc. (“MEMC Pasadena”) breached an agreement with SMC for 
SMC to act as MEMC’s exclusive sales agent in China; (ii) 
MEMC Pasadena breached an agreement with Semi-Materials 
for Semi-Materials to act as MEMC Pasadena’s exclusive sales 
agent in Korea; (iii) MEMC tortiously interfered with the pur-
ported sales agency agreements between MEMC Pasadena and 
SMC and Semi-Materials; and (iv) MEMC tortiously interfered 
with a separate sales agency agreement Semi-Materials claims 
existed with an unrelated party. In the Missouri Action, Semi-
Materials also claims that MEMC tortiously interfered with an 
expectancy for an on-going business relationship Semi-Materials 
claims existed with the unrelated party.
 No discovery has been undertaken in the Texas Action, and it 
has been stayed pending resolution of the appeal in the fi rst case. 
Discovery is ongoing in the Missouri Action.
 We do not believe that the Semi-Materials cases, should they 
ultimately be decided against MEMC, in whole or in part, will 
have a material adverse eff ect on us. Due to uncertainty regarding 
the litigation process, the outcome of these matters are unpredict-
able and the results of these cases could be unfavorable for MEMC.

Minneapolis Firefi ghters’ Relief Association v. MEMC 

Electronic Materials, Inc., et al.

On September 26, 2008, a putative class action lawsuit was fi led 
in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri by 
plaintiff  Minneapolis Firefi ghters’ Relief Association asserting 
claims against MEMC and Nabeel Gareeb, MEMC’s former 
Chief Executive Offi  cer. On October 10, 2008, a substantially 
similar putative class action lawsuit was fi led by plaintiff  Donald 
Jameson against MEMC, Mr. Gareeb and Ken Hannah, MEMC’s 
Chief Financial Offi  cer. Th ese cases purportedly are brought on 
behalf of all persons who acquired shares of MEMC’s common 
stock between June 13, 2008 and July 23, 2008, inclusive (the 
“Class Period”). Both complaints allege that, during the Class 
Period, MEMC failed to disclose certain material facts regarding 
MEMC’s operations and performance, which had the eff ect of 
artifi cially infl ating MEMC’s stock price in violation of Section 
10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). 
Plaintiff s further allege that Messrs. Gareeb and Hannah are 

subject to liability under Section 20(a) of the Act as control per-
sons of MEMC. Plaintiff s seek certifi cation of the putative class, 
unspecifi ed compensatory damages, interest, and costs, as well 
as ancillary relief. On December 12, 2008, these actions were 
consolidated, and the Court appointed Mahendra A. Patel as lead 
plaintiff . Plaintiff  fi led a consolidated amended complaint on 
February 23, 2009. Defendants must answer or move to dismiss 
by April 10, 2009.

Brian Larkowski v. John Marren, et al.

On November 4, 2008, Brian Larkowski, a purported shareholder 
of MEMC, fi led a derivative action in the Circuit Court of St. 
Charles County, Missouri against defendants John Marren, Peter 
Blackmore, Nabeel Gareeb, Marshall Turner, Robert J. Boehlke, 
C. Douglas Marsh, William E. Stevens, James B. Williams, and 
Michael McNamara (collectively “Individual Defendants”) and 
MEMC as a nominal defendant. Each individual defendant is a 
current or former offi  cer and/or director of MEMC. Th e lawsuit 
alleges breach of fi duciary duty, abuse of control, gross misman-
agement, waste of corporate assets, and unjust enrichment, based 
on allegations of conduct similar to that alleged in the putative 
class action lawsuit described above. On December 19, 2008, the 
Court entered a stipulated order staying the derivative action pend-
ing resolution of any motions to dismiss in the putative class action.

On January 30, 2009, a second putative derivative plaintiff  
served a demand letter on the Company’s Board of Directors 
requesting that it investigate factual allegations similar to those 
underlying the Larkowski derivative action.

Jerry Jones v. MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc., et al.

On December 26, 2008, a putative class action lawsuit was fi led 
in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri by 
plaintiff , Jerry Jones, purportedly on behalf of all participants in 
and benefi ciaries of MEMC’s 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Plan”) 
between September 4, 2007 and December 26, 2008, inclusive 
(the “Class Period”). Th e complaint asserts claims against MEMC 
and certain of its directors, employees and/or other unnamed 
fi duciaries of the Plan. Th e complaint alleges that the defendants 
breached certain fi duciary duties owed under the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”), generally asserting 
that the defendants failed to make full disclosure of the risks 
to the Plan’s participants of investing in MEMC’s stock, to the 
detriment of the Plan’s participants and benefi ciaries, and that 
Company’s stock should not have been made available as an 
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investment alternative for the Plan’s participants. The misstate-

ments alleged in the complaint significantly overlap with the 

misstatements alleged in the federal securities class action 

described above. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary  

damages, including losses the participants and beneficiaries of 

the Plan allegedly experienced due to their investment through 

the Plan in MEMC’s stock, equitable relief and an award of 

attorney’s fees.

MEMC believes these actions are without merit and we will 

assert a vigorous defense. Due to the inherent uncertainties of  

litigation, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome or resolution of 

the foregoing proceedings or estimate the amounts of, or potential 

range of, loss with respect to these proceedings. An unfavorable 

outcome could have a material adverse impact on our business, 

results of operations and financial condition. We have indemnifi-

cation agreements with each of our present and former directors 

and officers, under which we are generally required to indemnify 

each such director or officer against expenses, including attorney’s 

fees, judgments, fines and settlements, arising from actions such 

as the lawsuits described above (subject to certain exceptions, as 

described in the indemnification agreements).

15.  GEOGR A PHIC SEGMENTS

We are engaged in one reportable segment — the design, 

manufacture and sale of silicon wafers.

Geographic financial information is as follows:

Net Sales to Customers:
Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

United States $  489.0 $  462.0 $  521.3

Foreign 1,515.5 1,459.8 1,019.3

 Total $2,004.5 $1,921.8 $1,540.6

Foreign revenues were derived from sales to the following 

countries:

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

China  $  371.8 $  405.0 $  218.1

Japan  47.5 94.5 74.7

Korea  279.3 299.7 188.1

Taiwan  505.4 324.9 273.4

Other foreign countries 311.5 335.7 265.0

 Total $1,515.5 $1,459.8 $1,019.3

Net sales are attributed to countries based on the location  

of the customer.

Our net sales attributable to polysilicon for the years ended 

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were 18.6%, 22.5% and 

18.5% as a percent of total sales, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation:
Dollars in millions  2008 2007

United States  $  416.2 $ 351.9

Japan   202.6 162.1

Taiwan   272.7 225.5

Italy    135.4 73.4

Other foreign countries  87.4 76.8

 Total  $1,114.3 $889.7

16 .  SU BSEQU ENT EV ENTS

In late February 2009, we revised our estimate for the allowance 

for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2008 due to the 

increased visibility in 2009 of adverse macroeconomic conditions 

existing as of December 31, 2008. Taking into account that two 

semiconductor wafer customers filed for bankruptcy protection 

during late January 2009 and early February 2009, we performed 

additional analysis of our at risk receivables as of December 31, 

2008. Accordingly, we have increased our allowance for doubtful 

accounts and recorded additional bad debt expense of $4.5 million 

during the quarter ended December 31, 2008.

 During February 2009, we amended two of our long-term 

solar wafer agreements. The aggregate revenues under the agree-

ments for sales in 2009 and aggregate revenues for sales over the 

remaining term of the contracts remain unchanged, but volume 

increases and price reductions for 2009 have been effectuated. 

There were no changes to the requirements for security deposits 

or letters of credit other than to extend the time to comply fully 

with the 2009 letter of credit requirement for one of the agree-

ments. The amendments did not have an impact on our 2008 

consolidated results of operations and financial condition.
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P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M

Th e Board of Directors and Stockholders
MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 

MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) 

as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated 

statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash fl ows for each 

of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. 

We also have audited the Company’s internal control over fi nancial 

reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in 

Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

Th e Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated 

fi nancial statements, for maintaining eff ective internal control 

over fi nancial reporting, and for its assessment of the eff ectiveness 

of internal control over fi nancial reporting. Our responsibility is 

to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements 

and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over fi nancial 

reporting based on our audits.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 

Th ose standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements 

are free of material misstatement and whether eff ective internal 

control over fi nancial reporting was maintained in all material 

respects. Our audits of the consolidated fi nancial statements 

included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements, assessing 

the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by 

management, and evaluating the overall fi nancial statement pre-

sentation. Our audit of internal control over fi nancial reporting 

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 

fi nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 

exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating eff ec-

tiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits 

also included performing such other procedures as we considered 

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits pro-

vide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

 A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a process 

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 

of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles. A company’s internal control over fi nancial 

reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to 

the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 

and fairly refl ect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 

of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-

tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fi nancial 

statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 

being made only in accordance with authorizations of manage-

ment and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthor-

ized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 

could have a material eff ect on the fi nancial statements.

 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fi nancial 

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-

tions of any evaluation of eff ectiveness to future periods are subject 

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 

in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 

procedures may deteriorate.

 In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements referred 

to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial posi-

tion of MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 

December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of its operations and 

its cash fl ows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 

December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles. Also in our opinion, MEMC Electronic 

Materials, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, 

eff ective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 

2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 

Framework issued by the COSO.

 As discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated fi nancial statements, 

the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

(SFAS) No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension 

and Other Postretirement Plans, eff ective December 31, 2006, and 

the measurement date provisions as of December 31, 2008.

 As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements, 

the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board 

Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, 

an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard 

No. 109, eff ective January 1, 2007 and SFAS No. 157, Fair Value 

Measurements, as of January 1, 2008.

(signed) KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri

February 27, 2009



(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation as of December 31, 2008, under the 

supervision and with the participation of our management, includ-

ing our Chief Executive Offi  cer and Chief Financial Offi  cer, of the 

eff ectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure con-

trols and procedures, as defi ned in Rules 13-15(e) and 15d-15(e) 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based 

upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Offi  cer and Chief 

Financial Offi  cer have concluded that our disclosure controls 

and procedures were eff ective as of December 31, 2008.

(b)  Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 

adequate internal control over fi nancial reporting as defi ned in 

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934. Our internal control over fi nancial reporting is 

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 

of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2008, management conducted an assess-

ment of the eff ectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 

fi nancial reporting based upon the framework issued by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based 

on management’s assessment utilizing these criteria, we believe 

that, as of December 31, 2008, our internal control over fi nancial 

reporting was eff ective.

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Th ere have been no changes in the Company’s internal control 

over fi nancial reporting during the most recently completed fi scal 

quarter and year ended December 31, 2008 that have materially 

aff ected, or are reasonably likely to materially aff ect, the Company’s 

internal control over fi nancial reporting.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  O F F I C E R S

R E C O N C I L I A T I O N  O F  G A A P  E P S  T O  N O N  G A A P  E P S

     2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

GAAP   $1.69 $3.56 $1.61 $1.10 $1.02 $0.53

Cash tax diff erence  0.48 0.49 0.45 (0.15) (0.28) 0.10

Non-GAAP  $2.17 $4.05 $2.06 $0.95 $0.74 $0.63

Loss (gain) on warrants at cash tax rate  1.08  (0.80) (0.07) – – –

Non-GAAP excluding warrants  $3.25 $3.25 $1.99 $0.95 $0.74 $0.63

*  Our estimated cash tax rate is the estimated tax payable on our tax returns as a percentage of estimated annual pre-tax book income. Th e annual cash 

tax rate is estimated quarterly by reference to book taxable income and then taking into account temporary book/tax diff erences and any tax basis 

items refl ected on our annual tax returns. Th e company uses an estimated cash tax rate to adjust for the historical variation in the eff ective book 

tax rate associated with the reversal of valuation allowances, foreign tax credits and loss carry-forwards that are not tied to actual operating results, 

because the company believes that the cash tax rate provides a more transparent view of the company’s operating results.
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S T O C K H O L D E R  A N D  C O M PA N Y  I N F O R M A T I O N

CORPOR ATE OFFICE
MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.
501 Pearl Drive (City of O’Fallon)
St. Peters, Missouri 63376
(636) 474-5000
www.memc.com

TR ANSFER AGENT  
AND REGISTR AR
Computershare Investor Services, L.L.C.
2 North LaSalle Street
P.O. Box A3504
Chicago, Illinois 60690-3504
(312) 360-5433
www.computershare.com

STOCKHOLDER INQUIRIES
Inquiries regarding address corrections,  
lost certificates, changes of registration,  
stock certificate holdings and other  
stockholder account matters should be 
directed to MEMC’s transfer agent, 
Computershare Investor Services, L.L.C., 
at the address or phone number above.

COMMON STOCK LISTING
MEMC’s common stock is traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol 
“WFR”. On December 31, 2008, the 
Company had 264 stockholders of record.

FOR M 10-K
Stockholders may obtain a copy of MEMC’s  
Annual Report on Form 10-K and related 
financial statement schedules for the year 
ended December 31, 2008, filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, by 
visiting our website (www.memc.com), 
writing MEMC’s Investor Relations 
Department or by calling (636) 474-5000.

CERTIFICATIONS
The New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) 
requires that our Chief Executive Officer 
file an annual certificate indicating that he 
is unaware of any violations of the NYSE 
listing standards.  This certification was 
executed without qualification by our Chief 
Executive Officer in May 2008 and filed 
after our 2008 annual meeting of stock-
holders. In addition, the Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer filed 
certifications with the SEC regarding  
the quality of our public disclosure. These 
certifications can be found as Exhibits 31.1 
and 31.2 to our Form 10-K for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2008.

FINANCIAL INFOR MATION
MEMC maintains a home page on the 
Internet at www.memc.com where we 
publish information, including earnings 
releases, other news releases and signifi-
cant corporate disclosures.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Analyst and investor inquiries should be 
directed to: 

Bill Michalek
Director, Investor & Media Relations
MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.
501 Pearl Drive (City of O’Fallon)
St. Peters, Missouri 63376
Tel: (636) 474-5000
Fax: (636) 474-5158
Email: invest@memc.com

 
S T O C K  P R I C E  P E R F O R M A N C E  G R A P H

The graph at right compares cumulative  
total stockholder return with the cumula-
tive total return (assuming reinvestment  
of dividends) of the S&P 500 Index  
and the S&P 500 Semiconductors Index. 
The information on the graph covers the 
period from December 31, 2003 through 
December 31, 2008. The stock price  
performance shown on the graph is not  
necessarily indicative of future stock  
price performance.

Prepared by Standard and Poor’s Compustat 2/23/09
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MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc.
501 Pearl Drive (City of O’Fallon) 

P.O. Box 8
St. Peters, Missouri 63376

(636) 474-5000
www.memc.com
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